

Global Development and Production of Self-loading Service Rifles

1896 to the Present

By N.R. Jenzen-Jones



A Working Paper of the Small Arms Survey

Copyright

Published in Switzerland by the Small Arms Survey © Small Arms Survey, Graduate Institute of International and Development Studies, Geneva, 2017

First published in January 2017

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without the prior permission in writing of the Small Arms Survey, or as expressly permitted by law, or under terms agreed with the appropriate reprographics rights organization. Enquiries concerning reproduction outside the scope of the above should be sent to the Publications Manager, Small Arms Survey, at the address below.

Small Arms Survey

Graduate Institute of International and Development Studies Maison de la Paix, Chemin Eugène-Rigot 2E 1202 Geneva, Switzerland

Copy-edited by Alex Potter (alex.potter@mweb.co.za) Proofread by Stephanie Huitson

Typeset in Optima and Palatino by Rick Jones

Printed by Gonnet in France

ISBN 978-2-940548-34-7

About the Small Arms Survey

The Small Arms Survey is a global centre of excellence whose mandate is to generate impartial, evidence-based, and policy-relevant knowledge on all aspects of small arms and armed violence. It is the principal international source of expertise, information, and analysis on small arms and armed violence issues, and acts as a resource for governments, policy-makers, researchers, and civil society. It is located in Geneva, Switzerland, at the Graduate Institute of International and Development Studies.

Established in 1999, the Survey is supported by the Swiss Federal Department of Foreign Affairs and current or recent contributions from the Governments of Australia, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Sweden, the United Kingdom, and the United States, as well as from the European Union. The centre is grateful for past support received from the Governments of Canada and Spain, as well as from foundations and many bodies within the UN system.

The Survey has an international staff with expertise in security studies, political science, law, economics, development studies, sociology, and criminology, and collaborates with a network of researchers, partner institutions, non-governmental organizations, and governments in more than 50 countries.

Small Arms Survey Maison de la Paix Chemin Eugène-Rigot 2E 1202 Geneva Switzerland

t +41 22 908 5777
f +41 22 732 2738
e sas@smallarmssurvey.org
w www.smallarmssurvey.org

Online resources

- Most Small Arms Survey publications are available for free download from our website at www.smallarmssurvey.org/publications.
- Many Small Arms Survey publications are available in languages other than English at **www.smallarmssurvey.org/languages**.
- A range of online tools concerning small arms and armed violence—including weapons identification and tracing resources, data-rich maps, and interactive guides—can be accessed at www.smallarmssurvey.org/tools.
- To receive regular email updates on publications and other news, sign up for eAlerts at **www.smallarmssurvey.org/eAlerts**.

Follow the Small Arms Survey

- www.facebook.com/SmallArmsSurvey
- www.twitter.com/SmallArmsSurvey
- www.smallarmssurvey.org/podcasts

Let us know what you think

 \Box

We are keen to receive feedback on how Small Arms Survey research is used, and how we can improve our publications and other resources. Please fill out a short questionnaire at **www.smallarmssurvey.org/feedback** or email any comments or suggestions to **feedback@smallarmssurvey.org**.

Icons by Freepik from www.flaticon.com

Contents

List of boxes, figures, and tables	
Abbreviations and acronyms	7
About the author	9
Acknowledgements	
I. Introduction	
II. Concepts and methods	
III. History of the development of self-loading service rifles	
Historical background: early technological developments	15
Early self-loading service rifles	16
Self-loading service rifles after the Second World War	19
IV. Production of self-loading service rifles	
Licensed and unlicensed production	33
Production for the law enforcement and civilian markets	38
V. Durability and attrition ambiguity	
Durability and longevity of self-loading rifles	40
Repair, modification, and modernization of existing	
self-loading service rifles	43
VI. Conclusion	45
Endnotes	47
Bibliography	53

List of boxes, figures, and tables

Boxes

1	Data sources and estimating techniques	14
2	Modular rifles	26
3	Cumulative and annual production of AK-type rifles	32
4	Current and historical holdings of self-loading service rifles	
	in the Republic of Croatia	42
Fig	gures	
1	Total global production of self-loading service rifles	30

Tables

31
es 33
ıs 41
es 43
2

Abbreviations and acronyms

AK	Avtomat Kalashnikova (Kalashnikov automatic rifle)
AK-74	Avtomat Kalashnikova obraztsa 1974 (Kalashnikov automatic rifle, model 1974)
AK-74M	Avtomat Kalashnikova obraztsa 1974 Modernizirovanniy (Kalashnikov automatic rifle, model 1974—modernized)
AKM	Avtomat Kalashnikov Modernizirovanniy (Kalashnikov automatic rifle—modernized)
AR-15	Armalite Rifle model 15
CETME	Centro de Estudios Técnicos de Materiales Especiales (Centre for Technical Studies of Special Materials)
FAL	Fusil Automatique Léger (light automatic rifle)
FAMAS	Fusil d'Assaut de la Manufacture d'Armes de Saint-Étienne (Assault rifle from the Saint-Étienne Weapons Factory)
G3	Automatisches Gewehr 3 (automatic rifle 3)
IP	Intellectual property
ISAF	International Security Assistance Force
ITI	International Tracing Instrument
Mle 17	Fusil Automatique Modèle 1917 RSC (automatic rifle, model 1917)
M1896	Model 1896 Rekylkarabin til flåden (Reculgevær) (model 1896 recoil carbine for the Navy)
M1908	Fusil Porfirio Diaz Sistema Mondragón Modelo 1908 (Porfirio Diaz Mondragon system rifle, model 1908)
NATO	North Atlantic Treaty Organization
SA80	Small Arms for the 1980s
SCAR	Special Operations Combat Assault Rifle

SCHV	Small-calibre, high-velocity	
SIG	Schweizerische Industriegesellschaft	
StG 44	Sturmgewehr 44 (assault rifle 44)	
SVT-40	Samozaryadnaya Vintovka Tokareva obraztsa 1940 (Tokarev self-loading rifle, model 1940)	
TDP	Technical data package	
UK	United Kingdom	
US	United States	
USSOCOM	US Special Operations Command	

About the author

N.R. Jenzen-Jones is a military arms and munitions specialist and security analyst who focuses on current and recent conflicts. He is the Small Arms Survey's technical specialist and director of Armament Research Services (ARES), a specialist technical intelligence consultancy. He has produced extensive research and analysis on a range of small arms and small arms ammunition issues, as well as technical assessments of incendiary weapons, emergent arms technology, and arms proliferation. His other research fields include the exploitation of technical intelligence to support counter-piracy, counter-narcotics, and other operations. He is a qualified armourer and ammunition collector, and a member of the European Cartridge Research Association, the International Ammunition Association, and the International Ballistics Society.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to extend his sincere thanks to the numerous individuals and organizations that assisted in the production of this study. In particular, the contributions of Jonathan Ferguson and Ian McCollum of Armament Research Services, Frank Iannamico, Aaron Karp, and Julio Montes were critical to this study. Many other individuals also shared their insights and technical expertise. While several people cannot be named for reasons of security or commercial sensitivity, thanks are also due to Yuri Lyamin, Graeme Rice, and Michael Smallwood of Armament Research Services; to Eric Berman, Benjamin King, Glenn McDonald, and Matt Schroeder at the Small Arms Survey; and to Martin Andrew, Maxim Popenker, and Anthony G. Williams.

The author would also like to acknowledge the contribution of the British and Croatian Ministries of Defence for their willingness to provide details of current and historical holdings of self-loading rifles, and related considerations.

I. Introduction

Technological innovations in the mid-to-late 1800s paved the way for the development of self-loading rifles, which were first issued in military service in 1896. These weapons remain the primary infantry weapon for all modern military forces, although their adoption has been affected by factors such as cost, tradition, and intended role. During the Second World War, self-loading rifles attained a prominence in military forces that endures to this day. Self-loading rifles are durable, and weapons produced in the 1930s and 1940s are still documented in modern conflict zones.

This study primarily concerns itself with the development of modern selfloading service rifles, and with classifying and counting them.¹ While these rifles can be classified with little difficulty on the basis of their inherent technical characteristics and mechanical functions, counting the number of rifles that have been produced worldwide is more challenging. The development of many self-loading rifles—certainly the major types—is relatively well understood; however, this study also examines the dispersion and adoption of these designs and the cumulative production of self-loading rifles globally, to the extent allowed by available data. No international mechanism is available to facilitate the reporting of the numbers and types of self-loading rifles held by states. More effective stockpile management and preventive action to halt the illicit proliferation of self-loading rifles relies on understanding how best to classify and count these weapons.

While recognizing these limitations, the study presents the following key findings:

- Early self-loading rifles were not very reliable, particularly in the field, as a result of the complexity of their moving parts. While they saw service in the First World War, it was not until the inter-war period that state militaries acquired and used them in significant numbers.
- Self-loading service rifles of the First and Second World Wars tended to be produced by states' existing manufacturing infrastructures. After the Second

World War, significant quantities of rifles were licensed for production outside their countries of origin.

- Intermediate-calibre and, later, small-calibre, high-velocity cartridges began to be adopted after the Second World War, and it is these cartridges that are used with the majority of self-loading rifles in service with world militaries today.
- While many different models of self-loading service rifles have been produced, 4 families of rifles that remain in production to the present day have been produced in numbers exceeding 5 million units: AK-type rifles (an estimated 76 million), AR-10 and AR-15 types (est. 13 million), G3 types (est. 8 million), and FAL types (est. 5.5 million). Some 175 million self-loading service rifles are believed to have been produced to date.
- The increasing popularity of modular firearms, as well as the repair, modification, and modernization of self-loading service rifles, can impede attempts to accurately classify and count such weapons; these factors also complicate basic marking, record-keeping, and tracing practices.
- Self-loading rifles are durable manufactured goods, and it is not uncommon to find weapons in excess of 60 years old in modern conflict zones.

This study starts by reviewing the developmental history of self-loading service rifles, beginning with the technological advances that paved the way for their introduction, followed by descriptions of early self-loading rifles, their post-Second World War counterparts, and the advent of modular weapons. The study then assesses the global production of self-loading service rifles, with Table 1 providing estimated cumulative production figures for key rifle types. The study includes sections on licensed and unlicensed production, as well as production for the law enforcement and civilian markets. It pays particular attention to the production of the most prolific of all self-loading rifles, AK-type rifles, offering estimates of total, cumulative production and current annual production. Finally, the study examines the physical longevity of self-loading rifles, as well as their repair, modification, and modernization.

II. Concepts and methods

For the purposes of this study, a self-loading service rifle is defined as:

A rifle or carbine, which extracts and ejects the fired cartridge case immediately after firing and chambers a new round from the gun's magazine; issued as a primary combat weapon by a branch of military service within a nation's armed forces (ARES, 2015, p. 1).

The term 'self-loading service rifle' encompasses several firearm sub-types covering a broad range of modern military rifles that have been in general service. These include:

- automatic rifles;
- assault rifles;²
- so-called 'battle rifles';³
- and some 'traditional military rifles'.4

The term 'self-loading service rifle' is based, firstly, on the inherent technical characteristics of this weapon class (that is, the ability to fire a shot for every pull of the trigger), and, secondly, on the intended user (that is, use by an individual soldier or fighter in ordinary infantry service and not in a specialist role). These two components of the term are each essential in their own right, allowing us to quickly identify which firearms fall within the scope of this study.⁵

Other than the fact that these rifles all extract and eject the fired cartridge case immediately after firing and chamber a new round from their magazine, the study does not examine their other technical or performance characteristics. Self-loading rifles that have been adopted by national armed forces but *not* as a 'primary combat weapon' (for example, self-loading sniper rifles or anti-materiel rifles) fall outside the scope of the definition. Nor does the study consider self-loading rifles produced for the law enforcement or civilian markets, except where their production is difficult to disaggregate from production intended for the military, as with AR-15-type⁶ rifles.

Box 1 Data sources and estimating techniques

The derivation of accurate figures for small arms production can be difficult. Precise figures are available for some types, while production rates of other types are quite literally unknown. Contradictory data is relatively common (see Table 2). Matters of classification and counting are further complicated by factors such as civilian ownership of the same or similar weapons as those used by world militaries; the increasing military popularity of modular firearms; the production of new rifle types; and the processes of attrition, modification, and repair. This study draws on a wide range of data sources, primarily published sources that include books, journal and magazine articles, conference and symposium presentations, and websites. It supplements these sources with interviews with defence industry and other specialists, and with information received directly from governments regarding national production and holdings of self-loading service rifles.

The final estimates for global self-loading service rifle production used in this study were reached by using a combined top-down and bottom-up approach (see Table 1). These techniques alternately start from a cumulative global picture of production (either of self-loading service rifles in general or of one rifle type), on the one hand, and from smaller data points—'building-block' data—such as production and adoption estimates for one rifle type in one country,⁷ on the other.

Where possible, information on quantities was derived from published sources (for example, the US M1 Garand). Generally, these constitute the more reliable sources. Where available figures were aggregated, an attempt was made to separate reported quantities by model (for example, the Belgian FN Herstal F2000), with an inevitable loss of precision. Where available figures were outdated, an attempt was made to update them based on published information, if available, and, failing that, on estimates using factors such as the size of the relevant armed forces, purchasing trends for new self-loading rifles, and the production of similar small arms. These figures are thus less definitive (for example, the Brazilian MD1 FAL variant). The least reliable figures are pure estimates, used in cases in which no data was available from either published or unpublished sources. In these instances a conservative, rough estimate was produced based on published information on quantities of the prior service rifle produced and/or held and the size of the country's military forces (for example, the Chilean-produced SG 540).

III. History of the development of self-loading service rifles

Historical background: early technological developments

As with any firearm, the self-loading rifle is largely dependent on its ammunition for its battlefield effects. Two revolutionary developments in small-calibre ammunition paved the way for the development of the self-loading rifle: the self-contained metallic cartridge and smokeless propellants (Wilson, 1934/1990).

In the 1840s and 1850s, the advent of metallic cartridge cases allowed for a single round of ammunition to be packaged in a self-contained format (Smith and Smith, 1965). In the field of small-calibre ammunition, the terms 'cartridge' and 'round' are synonymous: both refer to a complete unit of ammunition, including the projectile, which is fired from the gun; the propellant, which deflagrates and generates the gas pressure that propels the projectile up the barrel; the primer, which is initiated by the gun and ignites the propellant; and—with the exception of caseless ammunition—the cartridge case itself, which contains the components of a complete round of ammunition and provides the airtight seal known as obturation that allows pressure to build up behind the projectile (Goad and Halsey, 1982). Photo 1 shows the component parts of





Source: Anthony G. Williams/ARES

a typical small-calibre cartridge. Before the introduction of the self-contained metallic cartridge, ammunition components were carried and loaded separately, ruling out any sort of self-loading mechanism. While the metallic cartridge case increased the weight of a round and necessitated mechanisms such as extractors and ejectors for a weapon, it did allow for the introduction of small arms that extract and eject a fired cartridge case and chamber a new round from the gun's magazine without requiring an external power source—self-loading weapons, in other words.⁸

The development of smokeless propellants-commonly known as 'smokeless gunpowder' or 'smokeless powder'-provided the second necessary innovation for the development of practical self-loading rifles. Earlier black powder-the revolutionary mixture of sulphur, charcoal, and potassium nitrate thought to have been developed in 9th century China-left considerable residue in gun barrels and actions after burning, making cleaning essential after a limited number of shots. The significantly higher rates of fire possible with self-loading rifles, together with the more complicated operating mechanisms, meant that the residue from black powder would foul the weapons so quickly as to render them impractical (ARES, 2015). In 1884, French chemist Paul Vieille developed the first practicable smokeless propellant, a dense colloided substance known as *poudre B.9 Poudre B* was nearly three times more energetic and burned far cleaner than its predecessor (Davis, 1943/1990; Medard, 1994). This new powder allowed a weapon to be reliably fired hundreds of times before cleaning became necessary, allowing for the use of the more complicated mechanical assemblies necessary in a self-loading rifle.

The first rifle to be chambered for a self-contained metal cartridge using smokeless propellant was the influential Lebel Model 1886 bolt-action rifle. This widely issued, manually operated rifle was an ideal proof-of-concept for these two innovations, and the development of self-loading rifles proceeded apace (Smith and Smith, 1965).

Early self-loading service rifles

Work began on the first self-loading rifles shortly before the introduction of smokeless propellants. Two Danish firearms designers, Willhelm H.O. Madsen

and Julius A.N. Rasmussen,¹⁰ began the development of their *Model 1888 Forsøgsrekylgeværet* as early as 1883, but this design was not adopted by the Danish military, probably due to the use of black-powder cartridges (Arma-Dania, n.d.a; McCollum, 2013a). As smokeless propellants were introduced, work on self-loading rifles and machine guns continued, with the latter initially more successful and more widely adopted, because machine guns lacked the lower weight requirements of a personal firearm and were thus easier to produce using the technology of the time (Wilson, 1934/1990). Madsen and Rasmussen later refined their design, producing the *Model 1896 Rekylkarabin til flåden (Reculgevær)* (M1896) in 1896, which the Danish Navy adopted in limited numbers,¹¹ making this weapon the first self-loading rifle issued to a state military (Arma-Dania, n.d.b).

Mexican artillery officer General Manuel Mondragón refined one of his earlier rifle designs in the later 1800s and early 1900s,¹² producing a weapon that was adopted by the Mexican military in 1908 as the *Fusil Porfirio Diaz Sistema Mondragón Modelo 1908* (M1908).¹³ Production was contracted to the Swiss firm Schweizerische Industriegesellschaft (SIG), and an order was placed for 4,000

Photos 2 and 3 **The Danish** *Model* **1896** *Rekylkarabin til flåden* (*Reculgevær*) (top) and the Swiss-made *Fusil Porfirio Diaz Sistema Mondragón Modelo* **1908** adopted by Mexico (below)



Source: Royal Danish Arsenal Museum; Rock Island Auction House

rifles. The M1908 proved to be unreliable when it was used with low-quality Mexican ammunition, particularly under field conditions, and this, together with political complications, led to the cancellation of the order after some 1,000 rifles had been delivered. The Mexican Army's adoption of the M1908 is often cited as the first adoption of a self-loading rifle by a nation's armed forces; however, while adopted in larger quantities than the Danish M1896, the M1908 did not play a major part in any armed conflict (Johnston and Nelson, 2010; McCollum, 2011a).

The problems arising from the use of the M1908 were representative of those faced by early self-loading rifles more broadly. Many early rifles had complex assemblies of moving parts, and while several models of self-loading rifles introduced in the early 20th century gained a commercial market share as sporting rifles,¹⁴ the operating systems remained too delicate for military service. A variety of self-loading service rifles saw action during the First World War,¹⁵ but it was not until the inter-war period that many states began to focus on developing a self-loading rifle of sufficient reliability for general military service (ARES, 2015; Canfield, 2013; McCollum, 2013b).

The United States was the first nation to adopt a self-loading rifle as a standard military service rifle. The successful design was developed by John C. Garand in the mid-1920s, and was adopted by the US Army as the 'United States Rifle, Caliber .30, M1' in January 1936 (Canfield, 2013). With the outbreak of the Second World War, demand for the rifle increased rapidly, and numerous US manufacturers were tasked with its manufacture (ARES, 2015). At the time, the M1 Garand was capable of the highest rate of fire among the standard-issue service rifles of the belligerents,¹⁶ which proved to be advantageous in infantry engagements. In the Pacific theatre, anecdotal evidence suggests that the Garand's rate of fire helped repel Japanese *banzai* charges (so-called 'human wave' attacks). The Japanese were so impressed with the rifle that they produced limited numbers of a Garand copy (George, 1948; McCollum, 2011b). By 1956, the United States had produced nearly 5.5 million M1 Garand rifles (Thompson, 2012).

Other nations developed and fielded successful self-loading rifles during the Second World War, but, like the M1 Garand, these were primarily chambered for full-power rifle cartridges. Designers of the time tended to develop rifles

around the long-range, high-power potential of existing cartridges, resulting in significant recoil impulse and comparatively heavy rifles. The Soviet Union and Germany each produced in excess of 1 million self-loading rifles during the Second World War, most chambered for full-power rifle cartridges (Smith and Smith, 1965). The capabilities of rifles such as these were rarely exploited to their fullest, with the chaotic realities of warfare (limited visibility, targets behind concealment or cover, etc.) meaning that most engagements took place at far shorter ranges than anticipated (ARES, 2015; Johnston and Nelson, 2010). Despite the limitations of full-power rifle cartridges, significant logistical and economic investment had been made in these calibres, and these investments, along with idealized military doctrine and the exigencies of an ongoing war, meant that innovation was met with some resistance.¹⁷

Self-loading service rifles after the Second World War

The success of the Garand rifle spurred production of self-loading service rifles worldwide. During the two world wars, licensed production of these weapons was rare, with nations able to produce sufficient quantities within their existing manufacturing infrastructure and preferring to retain exclusive control over production. This can be seen, by way of example, in the Mauser Model 98-pattern rifle, the most numerous manually operated rifle in history, most of which were produced in Germany by Mauser.¹⁸ After the Second World War, however, a substantial reduction in demand saw self-loading rifles licensed to foreign manufacturers. The Garand design was licensed to Italy-and Taiwan,19 which went on to produce some 1 million examples (Johnston and Nelson, 2010; Jones, 2012; Walter, 2006). Italy took this one step further, redesigning the weapon to suit its military needs. The Italian Beretta BM59 rifle was the result. It was adopted by the Italian military in 1959 and subsequently exported to national armed forces in several countries. In turn, this rifle was produced under licence by Indonesia and Morocco. From these sources, Garand-derivative rifles ended up in the inventories of a further six nations (ARES, 2015). The United States, after testing smaller-calibre alternatives, adopted the M14 rifle, a derivative of the Garand rifle chambered for the 7.62×51 mm cartridge. The M14 was formally accepted as the 'United States Rifle, 7.62 mm, M14' in 1957 (Rayle, Photos 4 and 5 US M1 Garand (top) and Soviet Union SVT-40²⁰ (bottom) selfloading rifles. Both were produced in notable quantities during the Second World War and are chambered for full-power rifle cartridges



Source: Armémuseum (Swedish Army Museum) and C&Rsenal

1996). In addition to copies and derivatives, both the M1 Garand and the M14 remain in limited service in the United States to the present day. Ultimately, more than 8.2 million Garand-type rifles were produced (see ARES, 2015). At the behest of the United States, the T65 cartridge was adopted as the 7.62 × 51 mm NATO standard in 1953, and NATO member states began to adopt rifles in this calibre (Arvidsson, 2009; Walter, 2006). Several self-loading rifles were designed (or redesigned) to chamber this cartridge, several of which have since seen extensive production and use worldwide (Johnston and Nelson, 2010). The United States itself adopted the M14 rifle, chambered for this cartridge, in 1957, as described above.

During the Second World War, German designers determined that full-power rifle cartridges were unnecessarily powerful for the standard service rifle and that the excessive recoil generated by the cartridges, together with their size and weight, meant a more suitable alternative needed to be developed for infantry use. The higher rate of fire achieved by self-loading rifles increased concerns over cartridge size and weight. The German military therefore developed and introduced an 'intermediate' cartridge²¹—lighter and shorter than

its predecessors, with physical characteristics somewhere between the full-power rifle cartridges of the infantry rifles of the time and the handgun-calibre cartridges used in sub-machine guns (Jenzen-Jones, 2016a, pp. 14–15). Chambering this new, lower-recoil cartridge, the resultant rifle was capable of delivering comparatively accurate automatic fire at close ranges, in the manner of a sub-machine gun, while retaining enough range to be effective in most infantry engagements. This new weapon was issued as the *Sturmgewehr* 44 (StG 44²²), literally 'assault rifle'. Today, so-called assault rifles²³ are the most numerous sub-category of self-loading rifle in service with military forces (Hogg, 1979).

While the StG 44 is widely acknowledged as the archetypal assault rifle, only limited numbers were produced,²⁴ and the weapon was never manufactured outside Germany. Its legacy is most prominent in the later *Avtomat Kalashnikova* (AK²⁵) rifle, the first in an influential series of self-loading rifles designed and

Photos 6 and 7 German StG 44 (top) and Russian AKM (bottom) assault rifles.²⁶ Both are chambered for 'intermediate-calibre' cartridges, which were developed during and immediately after the Second World War





Source: Armémuseum (Swedish Army Museum)

produced in the Soviet Union and, later, the Russian Federation. The original AK was introduced into Soviet service in 1949, and, having been modernized several times in the intervening years, its derivatives remain the primary service rifles of the Russian Federation military today.²⁷ The AK became a political tool as much as a weapon, and was widely produced in significant numbers under Soviet programmes intended to foster both cooperation and a measure of dependency on the part of allied nations and client states (Sulashvili, 2007, pp. 11–12). The advent of the Kalashnikov rifle marked an important turning point in the global production of self-loading rifles—not solely in terms of quantity, but also in how widely the weapon was adopted and manufactured, in terms of both licensed and unlicensed production (see below).

While several NATO countries experimented with intermediate-calibre rounds as early as the 1940s, full-power cartridges remained the NATO standard until well after the Second World War. In 1947, the final report of the UK Ministry of Supply's Small Arms Calibre Panel suggested that 'the standard round chosen should be of the smallest calibre possible [within the specification]', and recommended the selection of a .25 or .27 inch (6.35 or 6.86 mm) projectile (UK Ministry of Supply, 1947, p. 10).28 British experiments led to the development of the EM.2 self-loading rifle, chambered for a .280 $(7 \times 43 \text{ mm})$ calibre cartridge. The UK government requested a competitive test of the British rifle and cartridge against recent US prototype models. As had been the case in the Eastern Bloc with the AK rifle and other small arms, many in NATO saw significant value in a standardized NATO rifle and calibre (Jenzen-Jones, 2016a). The EM.2, together with two Belgian rifles developed by FN Herstal and also chambered for the .280 British cartridge,²⁹ was submitted for trials held in the United States in February 1950.³⁰ The United States submitted a rifle derived largely from the M1 Garand, designated the T25, chambered for the T65.30 calibre cartridge (Rayle, 1996).

These trials concluded that the US T65 cartridge was 'not suitable for Army Field Forces use because of its excessive recoil, blast, flash and smoke', and that 'of the basic types submitted for the test, the British .280 round is preferred' (*Spokesman-Review*, 1951). However, these findings were later overturned by the US Board of Ordnance, which refused to accept any cartridge less powerful than the .30-o6 in service with the M1 Garand³¹ (*Spokesman-Review*, 1951;

Williams, 2014). While other nations explored intermediate cartridges during this period, the British initiative represents the earliest attempt by a NATO nation to replicate the battlefield advantages of the German 7.92×33 mm round. At the behest of the United States, the T65 cartridge was adopted as the 7.62×51 mm NATO standard in 1953,³² and NATO member states began to adopt rifles in this calibre³³ (Arvidsson, 2009; Walter, 2006). Several self-loading rifles were designed (or redesigned) to chamber this cartridge, several of which have since seen extensive production and use worldwide (Johnston and Nelson, 2010).

While NATO was able to settle on the 7.62 × 51 mm cartridge, a consensus was not found on rifle selection. The Belgian FN Herstal *Fusil Automatique Léger* (FAL) self-loading rifle, developed by a team led by Dieudonné Saive, was intended to serve as a NATO standard rifle (Stevens, 1979; 2011).³⁴ Ultimately, while the United States adopted the M14 (manufacturing some 1.4 million rifles between 1959 and 1964), many nations adopted the FAL as their standard service rifle after it entered production in 1953 (Emerson, 2009; Stevens, 1980; Stevens and Van Rutten, 1981). FN Herstal pursued an aggressive marketing and licensing strategy, resulting in the adoption of the FAL by more than 90 coun-

Photos 8 and 9 British EM.2 (top) and Belgian FN Herstal FAL 50.00 (bottom) self-loading rifles. The EM.2 is chambered for .280 British, while the FAL is chambered for 7.62 × 51 mm



Original sources unknown

tries, across the politico-economic spectrum³⁵ (Jenzen-Jones and Spleeters, 2015). Today, the largest producer of FAL-type rifles is Indian Ordnance Factories, which manufactured 6,000 rifles in 2012, the last year for which official data is available (Karp and Rajagopalan, 2014, p. 6, Table 3). Research indicates that some 5.5 million FAL-type rifles have been produced to date (see ARES, 2015).

Although the Heckler & Koch G3 was introduced some five years after the FAL, its design dates back to the final years of the Second World War, with key operating features adapted from the widespread MG 42 general-purpose machine gun. The operating mechanism of the G3³⁶ formed the basis of many Heckler & Koch weapons to follow, contributing to the company's significant international success. First produced by Spain in 1958 as the *CETME Modelo 58*, the design was refined by Heckler & Koch in West Germany and adopted as the standard service rifle by the new German Army, the *Bundeswehr*, in 1959 (Stevens, 2006). G3-type self-loading rifles were subsequently exported to or licensed by some 55 nations worldwide, with production estimated at around 7.8 million units (see ARES, 2015). The FAL and G3 proved to be trendsetters for self-loading service rifle production over the following decades, with their manufacturers providing licences for production to users seeking significant quantities or with specific design requirements, while themselves producing rifles under contract for smaller clients and stopgap orders.

In 1952, the release of two influential reports signalled early US (and, by extension, NATO) steps towards adopting an intermediate calibre. The Hall and Hitchman reports concluded that small-arms fire was largely ineffective beyond 300 yards, and that the adoption of a 'small-calibre, high-velocity' (SCHV) cartridge would both improve hit probability within anticipated engagement ranges and significantly reduce the weight burden on the soldier (Hall, 1952; Hitchman, 1952; Jenzen-Jones, 2016a, pp. 11–12). In the late 1950s, arms designers in the United States examined the intermediate-calibre concept, experimenting with SCHV cartridges featuring a projectile of reduced diameter fired at an increased velocity. SCHV ammunition became standard issue in the 1970s, with the US adoption of the AR-15 assault rifle (known in military service as the M16).³⁷ The AR-15 followed the assault rifle principle, but the smaller, lighter cartridges allowed the rifleman to carry even more ammunition³⁸ and the increased projectile velocity allowed for better armour penetration. At least 13 million AR-15

Photos 10 and 11 German Heckler & Koch G3A4 (top) and US M16A1-style AR-15-type (bottom) self-loading rifles. The G3 is chambered for the full-power 7.62 × 51 mm cartridge, while the M16 is chambered for the SCHV 5.56 × 45 mm cartridge. Note that the magazine is absent from the M16A1 shown here



Source: Armes Occasion and 'damcv62' (AR15.com forum user)

type rifles have been produced for military service to date (see ARES, 2015).

Neither NATO nor Eastern Bloc forces expected SCHV systems to completely replace small arms chambered for full-power cartridges, retaining a variety of precision rifles and general-purpose machine guns in those calibres. China developed an indigenous SCHV (5.8×42 mm) cartridge in the late 1980s for use with the Type 95 family of weapons³⁹ (Andrew, 2015; Jenzen-Jones, 2016a, p. 20). Numerically, the Type 95 family is composed mostly of self-loading rifles, at least 3 million of which have been produced to date (see ARES, 2015). SCHV rifles continue to predominate today, although there are signs of an increasing interest in new so-called 'general-purpose' calibres.⁴⁰

Many full-power calibres have remained in military service worldwide, often supplementing later intermediate-calibre and SCHV systems (Ferguson et al., 2015). The range requirements of self-loading rifles as standard issue infantry arms—deemed to be no more than 300 yards in the Hall (1952) and Hitchman (1952) reports—have been reconsidered by some states in light of recent battlefield experiences (Jenzen-Jones, 2016a, pp. 21–22). In Afghanistan after the 2001 invasion, infantry small arms played a more pivotal role than was anticipated on

Box 2 Modular rifles

Modular firearms are generally accepted to be weapons that can be easily reconfigured to meet different operational requirements and accommodate a range of accessories (Persi Paoli, 2015). The degree to which this must be possible in order for a weapon to be considered 'modular' is not universally agreed on, however. Traditional firearms designs—broadly speaking, those produced prior to the Second World War—often lacked any modularity, requiring gunsmiths or armourers to make permanent modifications to a weapon if a change in capabilities was wanted. Later weapons allowed semi-permanent changes, such as the addition of an optical sight, to be made by the manufacturer or a unit armourer. The split-receiver design⁴¹ of the FN Herstal FAL self-loading rifle marked an important shift towards increasing modularity in self-loading rifle design (Ferguson and Jenzen-Jones, 2014a). While the split-receiver architecture of the FAL enabled different top covers to be installed, this capability was primarily exploited at the factory level rather than in the field.⁴² It was not until the introduction and widespread adoption of the AR-15-type rifle that user-configurable weapons became commonplace.

AR-15 rifles were initially supplied in standard configurations with little user configurability (primarily as the M16 and its variants); later generations began to exploit the inherent parts commonality of various models. The AR-15 also featured split-receiver architecture that allowed for customization at the user and armourer levels, with upper receivers with differing barrel lengths and weights, gas systems, and muzzle attachments being largely interchangeable. Early Colt CAR-15-series weapons were marketed as a 'family' of small arms, including carbines, assault rifles, and so-called 'heavy assault rifles' (Stevens and Ezell, 1992). Similarly, the Stoner 63 self-loading rifle family was designed with limited parts commonality, allowing for the configuration of the so-called 'basic group' into one of six weapons. The system was offered with a wide range of accessories, including flash hiders, feed devices, furniture,⁴³ and a grenade launcher. The British SA80 was conceived as a 'family of weapons' (Antill, 2009; Raw, 2003). Developed in the 1970s, the SA80 family was designed from the outset to have a high degree of parts commonality. Initially consisting of a self-loading rifle and a light machine gun, designated the L85A1 and L86A1, respectively, the family later grew to include other models (Raw, 2003). The Colt CAR-15, Stoner 63, and SA80 weapons were some of the earliest NATO weapons adopting the so-called 'family approach':⁴⁴ the calibre of each model cannot be changed, but other features such as the barrel length, furniture, and attachments are often modifiable and interchangeable (Jacobs, 2013; Peri Paoli, 2015).

Many producers began to manufacture self-loading rifles with greater parts commonality for reasons of cost and practicality, reducing the requirement for spare parts holdings and increasing parts commonality under field conditions. As a result, commonality of parts has led to a degree of modularity for some common rifles. For example, no design changes were made to the Diemaco C8 carbine when UK special operations forces adopted it in the late 1990s as the L119A1. Instead, a number of upper receivers were later acquired with 10.0, 15.7, and 20.0 inch barrels, and these could be quickly swapped out by the user as necessary⁴⁵ (Ferguson, 2014a).

Several later 'families' of rifles were developed that incorporated increasing levels of modularity. An example is the XM8 family, derived from the earlier Objective Individual

Combat Weapon programme,⁴⁶ which featured different barrels and other modules that could be swapped out according to operational requirements (see Photo 12). Many weapons systems that may be considered modular under the family approach lack purpose-made user-configurable features, however. Although the XM8 design did not allow for calibre conversion, the rifle proved a turning point for modular designs: the programme was serious-ly evaluated by the US Army in the early 2000s, which initially envisaged replacing the M16/M4 series weapons as the standard service rifle with up to 900,000 XM8-type rifles (H&K Defense, n.d.).

In January 2004, the US Special Operations Command (USSOCOM) launched the Special Operations Forces Combat Assault Rifle (SCAR) programme. The FNH USA⁴⁷ SCAR was to prove the first assault rifle procured by US forces through open competition since the M16/M4

Photo 12 Heckler & Koch XM8 family of modular weapons. Note common receiver at centre right



Source: H&K Defense (n.d.)

types (FNH USA, 2006). Although the rifles were intended to replace a variety of USSCOM's existing weapons, the long-term goal of the SCAR programme was to develop and deploy one common-receiver platform (Persi Paoli, 2015). The SCAR is available in two configurations: a 'light' configuration chambered for 5.56×45 mm (SCAR-L) ammunition and a 'heavy' configuration chambered for 7.62×51 mm (SCAR-H). While both were originally selected for procurement, USSCOM later cancelled the acquisition of SCAR-L rifles after having received only a small portion of its original requirement, and instead issued a solicitation for a 5.56×45 mm calibre conversion kit for the SCAR-H (Kit Up!, 2010).

Weapons that we might today consider 'fully' modular—user configurable for both role and calibre—have continued to evolve. Despite only limited adoption by nations' armed forces, modularity remains a key selling point for a number of firearms manufacturers at present. New modular, calibre-convertible self-loading rifles continue to be introduced, including the SIG SAUER SIG556xi, Colt CM901, and Česká Zbrojovka CZ 805 BREN types.

Generally speaking, the more modular the weapon is by design, the more variety exists in production and procurement. Today, end users may not procure a 'complete' self-loading rifle as they would have in the past. Militaries may now opt to purchase complete upper receivers or even a fully modular upper receiver with a range of barrel lengths and calibre options. In this way, an individually serial-numbered rifle may effectively become several weapons over time (see 'Repair, modification, and modernization of existing self-loading service rifles', below).

The design of modular weapon systems complicates basic marking, record-keeping, and tracing practice (Persi Paoli, 2015). Critical components of firearms, typically pressurebearing components, may be broadly separated into the 'primary controlled component'⁴⁸ and 'additional critical components'. The primary controlled component is that which is regulated under relevant international and national law (Ferguson, Jenzen-Jones, and McCollum, 2014). Internationally, and for the purposes of this study, the primary controlled component is described in the International Tracing Instrument (ITI)⁴⁹ in the following terms:

a unique marking should be applied to an essential or structural component of the weapon where the component's destruction would render the weapon permanently inoperable and incapable of reactivation, such as the frame and/or receiver (UNGA, 2005, para. 10).

This 'essential or structural component' is the primary controlled component under the ITI. Some countries, notably the United States, have not consistently regulated the 'essential or structural component' of certain firearms, blurring the distinction between the primary controlled component and additional critical components at the national level.⁵⁰ Additional critical components vary by firearm, but typically include the barrel, bolt group, and other essential pressure-bearing parts (Ferguson, Jenzen-Jones, and McCollum, 2014). The ITI contains no specific requirement to mark additional critical components of a firearm; however, paragraph 10 goes on to recommend the following:

States are encouraged, where appropriate to the type of weapon, to apply the marking prescribed in subparagraph 8 (a) above or other markings to other parts of the weapon such as the barrel and/or slide or cylinder of the weapon, in order to aid in the accurate identification of these parts or of a given weapon (UNGA, 2005, para. 10).

The marking of additional critical components is valuable for the tracing of both complete firearms and individual components, and can provide investigators with important information about repairs, refurbishment, or modifications that may have been made to the weapon. Such markings may also prove useful when a firearm's primary serial number has been altered or removed⁵¹—a practice that has become increasingly commonplace in conflict zones (Jenzen-Jones, 2015, p. 6).

The question of how to count such systems has not yet been adequately addressed, however. Logically, the primary controlled component of a modular weapon is the one that must be assessed for the purposes of determining total rifle production; however, there is not yet agreement as to what these components are. Another challenge lies in properly classifying modular weapons. If a firearm is sold with the components needed to serve as both a self-loading rifle and a light machine gun, for example, in which category is it recorded?

a 'modern' battlefield. Systems that would ordinarily deliver heavier supporting fires were often restricted by operational practices that were generally concerned with limiting civilian casualties. As a result, infantrymen were frequently forced to engage enemies at longer ranges than anticipated, regularly beyond 300 m and often beyond the 500 m effective range of the standard M4-series rifles⁵² (Ehrhart, 2009).

Despite the broad global adoption of self-loading service rifles, manually operated rifles remain relevant to modern military forces. Bolt-action rifles, in particular, are still employed by many modern military forces as sniper rifles⁵³ (British Army, 2015; US Army, 2003). In some cases a bolt-action rifle remains the primary service weapon for a particular component of the armed forces. The Canadian Rangers,⁵⁴ for example, have been equipped with the bolt-action Lee Enfield No. 4 Mk 1* rifle from 1942 until the present day. A replacement weapon, referred to as the New Canadian Ranger Rifle and designated the C19, has recently been identified. It is also a bolt-action rifle, this time based on the successful SAKO Tikka T₃ Compact Tactical Rifle design (Jenzen-Jones, 2016b). Specialist snipers have widely preferred bolt-action rifles for accuracy reasons; however, a number of semi-automatic systems have also been adopted in recent years, including the US Army's M110 Semi-Automatic Sniper System and the Heckler & Koch G28 adopted by the German Bundeswehr.

IV. Production of self-loading service rifles

Recent research suggests that some 175 million self-loading service rifles have been produced to date (ARES, 2015). This figure does not include civilianowned rifles, except in limited cases where civilian-owned rifles of the same type were too difficult to disaggregate from their military counterparts. Similarly, this figure does not account for attrition, deliberate destruction, or the refurbishment and modification of existing rifles. Nonetheless, the figure is likely to be an

AK-type rifles	42%
Other self-loading rifles	21%
AR-15- and AR-10-type rifles	7%
Other Chinese self-loading rifles	7%
M1 Garand-type rifles	5%
G3-type rifles	5%
M1 Carbine-type rifles	3%
FAL-type rifles	3%
SKS-type rifles	3%
AK derivatives	1%
SIG 500 series-type rifles	1%
SVT-40-type rifles	1%
K1-type rifles	1%

Figure 1 Total global production of self-loading service rifles^a

^a The chart includes rifle types with an estimated total production exceeding 1 million units. Source: ARES (2015)

Rifle type	Production dates	Approximate quantity produced	Source(s)
Model 1896ª	1896	60	Arma-Dania (n.d.a)
M1908 Mondragón ^b	1908–11	1,000	Johnston and Nelson (2010); McCollum (2011a)
Mle 1917 and Mle 1918	1917–19	89,333	Huon (1995)
M1 Garand types	1936–79	8,200,000	Thompson (2012; 2014); Johnston and Nelson (2010); Walter (2006); Jones (2012)
SVT-40	1940-42	1,379,177	Bolotin (1995)
StG 44	1943–45	440,000	Johnston and Nelson (2010)
SKS types	1945–present	5,000,000	Kehaya and Poyer (1996); Survivor's SKS Boards (2011); Drumheller (n.d.); Monetchikov (2005); Burton (2005)
AK types ^c	1949-present	76,000,000 ^d	Numerous. See ARES (2015)
FAL types	1953–present	5,500,000	Stevens and Van Rutten (1981); SSAA (1997); The FAL Files (2015); Eger (2014b); Long (1998); Cashner (2013); Johnston and Nelson (2010)
G3 types ^e	1958–present	8,000,000	Kersten and Schmid (1999); Walter (2006); Gangarosa (2001); Nazarian (n.d.); Bekdil (2014); Huon (2012)
AR-15 and AR-10 types	1959–present	13,000,000 ^r	Bartocci (2004); Abas (2014); WeaponsMan (2014); Stevens and Ezell (1992); Military Factory (2013); AR15.com (2005); Retro Black Rifle (n.d.)
Type 95 types	1995-present	3,000,000	Johnston and Nelson (2010)

Notes:

All quantities are production estimates.

a Model 1896 Rekylkarabin til flåden (Reculgevær).

b Properly, the Fusil Porfirio Diaz Sistema Mondragón Modelo 1908.

c Including derivative designs with substantial changes, such as the Israeli Galil series.

d Note that this can be considered a conservative estimate.

e Including CETME rifles; including variants chambered for 5.56 × 45 mm cartridges.

f Some 3 million AR-15 and AR-10 rifles are further estimated to have been produced for the civilian and law enforcement markets (see ARES, 2015).

Source: Draws on sources in ARES (2015). See ARES (2015) for full details.

underestimate: the total number of self-loading rifles produced to date is very likely to be higher. The data also highlights the prominence of AK-type rifles in the global arms landscape, with these weapons constituting more than 40 per cent of self-loading service rifles produced up to the present day (see Figure 1).

Box 3 Cumulative and annual production of AK-type rifles

AK-type rifles are the most common self-loading service rifle in the world today by a considerable margin, and are thought to constitute in excess of 40 per cent of the total number of self-loading rifles produced up to the present day. Their ubiquity means that they are encountered in almost every modern conflict zone. Nearly 200 variants, copies, and derivatives of the AK rifle have been identified to date. These are produced:

... in a wide range of calibres, including 7.62 × 25 mm, 9 × 18 mm, 9 × 19 mm, 5.45 × 39 mm, 5.56 × 45 mm, 7.62 × 39 mm, 7.62 × 54R mm, 7.92 × 33 mm, 7.92 × 57 mm, and smoothbore variants chambered for various shotshell cartridges (McCollum, 2014).

According to Russian sources, IZHMASH (now Kalashnikov Concern) only patented the weapon's design in 1997, and in 2006 Russian Federation AK-type rifles accounted for only 10 per cent of the world's production of this type (VoR, 2013).

At least 76 million AK-type rifles, including variants, copies, and derivatives, have been produced to date, according to research conducted by Armament Research Services for the Small Arms Survey (ARES, 2015).⁵⁵ This estimate, which is likely conservative, largely agrees with several other sources, including Walter (2006; estimate of 70 million), Kalashnikov and Joly (2006; 60–80 million), Rottman (2011; 75 million), and primary Russian Federation small arms manufacturer Kalashnikov Concern's own estimate of 'more than 70 million Kalashnikovs' (Johnson, 2015). Calhoun (1998) estimated 50–80 million in the late 1990s. The figure of 76 million is also consistent with the top end of Edward Ezell's 30–50 million estimate, made in 1986, if production in the intervening decades is factored in (Ezell, 1986). Some estimates, such as those from Control Arms (2006), are lower, in the 50–70 million range, while others are higher, with figures of 100 million units (Chivers, 2011; Ezell, 2000; Francis, 2013) or more (VoR, 2013; Pyadushkin, 2003). Table 2 offers a selective comparison of estimates of cumulative AK-type rifle production.

There is agreement among Russian sources that global AK-type rifle production is relatively stable at around 1 million per year (VoR, 2013). According to Kalashnikov producer IZHMASH, the Russian Federation accounts for only 10–12 per cent of the 1 million AKtype rifles produced each year, with the rest being unlicensed copies (RIA Novosti, 2006; 2010). In 2013 it was estimated that some 50 per cent of the AK-type rifles produced by 2009 were unlicensed (VoR, 2013). AK-type rifle production in the Russian Federation has been increasing in recent years, according to Russian Federation sources (RIA Novosti, 2014; RT, 2014). In 2014 Kalashnikov Concern reportedly manufactured 150,000 AK-type rifles, and had planned to modernize arms production and increase this output to meet international demand, primarily from the civilian market (*Moscow Times*, 2015).

Year of estimate	Estimated total production	Source type	Source
2015	(At least) 76 million	Research organization	ARES (2015)
2015	(More than) 70 million	AK manufacturer	Johnson (2015)
2013	150 million	Media	VoR (2013)
2011	75 million	Academic text	Rottman (2011)
2011	100 million	Book	Chivers (2011)
2009	100 million	Media	Francis (2013)
2007	50–100 million	Research organization	Killicoat (2007)
2006	70–100 million	Research organization	Karp (2006)
2006	70 million	Academic text	Walter (2006)
2006	50–70 million	Advocacy group	Control Arms (2006)
2006	60–80 million	Book	Kalashnikov and Joly (2006)
2003	(More than) 100 million	Research organization	Pyadushkin (2003)
2000	8–100 million	Media	Ezell (2000)
1998	50–80 million	Government	Calhoun (1998)
1997	30–55 million	United Nations	UNGA (1997)
1986	30–50 million	Academic text	Ezell (1986)

Table 2 Estimates of cumulative production of AK-type self-loading rifles

Licensed and unlicensed production

Intellectual property (IP)⁵⁶ and data rights, including the licensing of such rights, are a fundamental feature of the production landscape for self-loading service rifles. Some 60–80 per cent of all self-loading service rifles are produced by manufacturers who did not originate the technology (Sulashvili, 2007, pp. 7, 8, 23, 32). Up to the present day, manufacturers of military small arms can be divided primarily into large-scale manufacturers, often entirely or partially state controlled, and smaller private or state-controlled manufacturers. While many designs are developed by large-scale manufacturers, several significant models have been developed by individuals or smaller companies and licensed to large manufacturers or states. For example, while the AR-15 was developed and

prototyped by Armalite, the rights were sold to the much larger Colt's Manufacturing Company in 1959, which produced the rifles as the M16 for the US military (Stevens and Ezell, 1992).

Manufacturers have increasingly sought to license the production of selfloading rifles. With the introduction of the FAL rifle, FN Herstal pursued an aggressive licensing strategy, supporting at least 15 manufacturers in producing hundreds of thousands of copies or minor variants of the FAL (ARES, 2015; Johnston and Nelson, 2010). Australian, British, and Canadian FAL rifles built to imperial specifications and with minor modifications from the Belgian originals were developed from extensive trials that included locally produced prototypes.57 Heckler & Koch also issued licences widely, risking serious competition from their own products as a result of this policy. However, the strategy allowed the company to indirectly reach alternative markets: Gabon, Ivory Coast, Lebanon, Mauritania, Morocco, Niger, Senegal, and Upper Volta⁵⁸—all former French colonies-were supplied with G3 rifles produced under licence by Manufacture d'Armes de Saint-Étienne, a state-owned French arms manufacturer (Gangarosa, 2001). This flexibility has been a hallmark of the modern era of self-loading rifle production. Modern arms licensing deals do, however, include various constraints, including time or quantity limits or exclusivity clauses giving the holder of the original design a measure of control over the sale-including export-of manufactured weapons (ARES, 2015; Sulashvili, 2007, pp. 8–10).

Licence rights are commonly described as 'unlimited', 'limited', or 'government purpose', or can feature negotiated terms that do not fit these three broad categories.⁵⁹ Applicable rights types depend on factors such as whether development was wholly or partially funded by a government or private entity (Ryan and Chen, 2010). For example, in the United States, the government has unlimited rights to several types of technical data, such as designs developed exclusively with government funding (US Department of Defense, 2014⁶⁰). Depending on the nature of the IP and the terms of any licensing agreements, rights may also be extended to entities outside of the licensing government; for example, in cases of maintenance, emergency repair, or evaluation by foreign governments or private entities.

The right to manufacture a given weapon is not necessarily linked to the ownership of the technical data relating to its design, often referred to in modern usage as the 'technical data package' (TDP). The US Department of Defense (2009, p. 8) defines a TDP as 'A technical description of an item adequate for supporting an acquisition strategy, production, and engineering and logistics support'.⁶¹ Under a licensed production arrangement, the owner of the TDP relating to a weapon's design confers the right to manufacture the weapon on another. The US government, for example, holds a non-transferable right to use Colt's TDP in the manufacture of M16 rifles and repair parts.⁶² The licence agreement includes a provision restricting these rights to rifles and components manufactured in the United States and its territories (US Army, 2009). In some cases, governments have sought to retain ownership of both the TDP and all manufacturing rights. Many governments, such as that of the United States, have implemented data-acquisition strategies intended to ensure that technical rights are held by the military over the life cycle of a weapon (Ryan and Chen, 2010; United States, 2012; US Army, 2008b).

As with any commercial contract, licensing agreements for arms and munitions are often subject to interpretation and may be the subject of heated debate or even litigation. Penalties may be incurred, for example, by the provision of exclusively licensed designs to third parties. When the US Navy licensed production of the 40 mm Bofors Gun from the Swedish Bofors Company in 1941, US negotiators secured a change in the contract's wording specifying that production would be 'for United States Forces only', to 'for United States use'. The Judge Advocate General of the US Navy subsequently issued an opinion indicating that this allowed the navy to give, lend, and sell guns and mounts manufactured under the contract to allied nations under the Lend-Lease Act⁶³ (US Navy Bureau of Ordnance, n.d.⁶⁴). In subsequent judicial proceedings, however, the United States was ordered to pay costs to Bofors after supplying Bofors Guns to allies under the Lend-Lease Act (US Court of Claims, 1957; Gander, 1986).

In some cases, the licence to manufacture particular weapons may be provided free of charge. Such was the case in 1951, when FN Herstal of Belgium offered to provide manufacturing rights to the FAL rifle to the United States at no cost.⁶⁵ The US Army's Office of the Chief of Ordnance discussed the offer, but rejected it due to fears that royalties might nevertheless be owed (Rayle, 1996).

A paid production licence for self-loading rifles is often coupled with engineering assistance from the licensor. For example, Sweden licensed the Egyptian government to manufacture the Swedish AG-42B Ljungman as the Hakim, while the Dutch produced a copy of the AR-10 under licence from Armalite. Both received significant engineering assistance from the originating firms in establishing their manufacturing capabilities (McCollum, 2015b). Large, modern arms manufacturers are increasingly awarded contracts for the licensing of rifle production based on their ability to deliver not just engineering assistance, but a complete 'production solution' to the client. For example, Heckler & Koch was awarded a large contract in Saudi Arabia, selling the client the weapons, rights to the relevant TDP, training (both domestically and at the company's facilities), engineering assistance, specialized machinery, and in-service support.66 Companies may also sub-contract government-owned factories to produce the arms for which they hold production rights. Orbital ATK, a US firm, has considerable experience operating under this model in Turkey and Saudi Arabia (Defense World.net, 2011).

Unlicensed production of self-loading rifles takes many forms, ranging from the infringement of specific, minor patents to the direct copying of an entire weapon. Several states, most notably China, have been accused of producing exact copies of competitors' firearms. It is widely understood, for example, that the Chinese Type Triple-10 was an exact copy of the Browning M1917. An example of the M1917 was seized from a travelling arms dealer and reverse engineered at the Hanyang Arsenal. The finished copy entered production on 10 October 1921 (Shih, 2011). Chinese arms manufacturers continue to copy and produce unlicensed firearms to the present day, including the CQ series of self-loading rifles, apparently copied from the US AR-15-type rifle (see Photos 13 and 14) (Bartocci, 2014).

In some cases, unlicensed copies of a firearm may be produced legally in one jurisdiction while still infringing on the rights of IP holders according to their legislation. In the early 20th century, for example, Spanish patent law dictated that patent protection would be void if the patent owner did not begin production of the patented item in Spain within three years of protection being issued. The major arms producers of the time did not have manufacturing branches in Spain, allowing the country's arms producers to freely copy numerous firearms, Photos 13 and 14 Chinese CQ-A (top) and US M4A1 (AR-15 type; bottom) selfloading rifles



Source: Poly Technologies, Inc. and Wikimedia

especially handguns. Smith & Wesson, Browning, and Mauser handguns were all widely copied; indeed, Spanish arms companies, many of which were based in the town of Eibar, would supply hundreds of thousands of copied handguns to the French Army during the First World War. While unlicensed, these weapons were produced in conformity with Spanish law of the time (Antaris, 2009).

Major types of self-loading rifles have typically been manufactured under a variety of different production models. AK-type rifles, for example, have been produced under most conditions and methods applied from the 1960s to the present day. They have been manufactured by hand, in much the same way as the earliest rifles, and produced on the most modern machinery; they have been mass produced by state-owned manufacturers, with and without a licence, and produced by small companies for domestic markets; they have been produced under contract for other nations by both licensors and licensees; they have been sold commercially, both as licensed models and as blatant copies; and they have both been faithfully replicated and formed the basis of distinct derivative designs (ARES, 2015).

Production for the law enforcement and civilian markets

Private and state-owned firearms manufacturers also produce self-loading rifles for the law enforcement and civilian markets. In some countries, such as the United States, self-loading rifles that are very similar to those in military service around the world have seen an increase in popularity in both of these market sectors. In the law enforcement sector, self-loading rifles are typically semi-automatic in operation. Law enforcement use of semi-automatic rifles dates back to early self-loading rifles such as the Remington Model 8 and Winchester Models 1905, 1907, and 1910. While never adopted by a state military as a primary service arm,⁶⁷ the Sturm, Ruger & Co. Mini-14 gained popularity with law enforcement agencies in the United States and abroad (Johnston and Nelson, 2010). At present, AR-15-type rifles are increasingly being marketed to, and adopted and employed by, US and foreign law enforcement agencies (Colt, 2015; Cramer, 2013).

Civilian firearm ownership is thought to account for some 75 per cent of global totals (Karp, 2007). Self-loading rifles are increasingly popular in the civilian market, with some estimates indicating that US production of AR-15-type rifles more than doubled in 2011–12 (NRA-ILA, 2014; Singer, 2013). AK-type rifles are also becoming increasingly popular with civilian buyers. It can be difficult to disaggregate production figures for the civilian and law enforcement markets from those for the domestic military and military export markets, particularly in the United States. This can lend some uncertainty to production numbers; however, a conservative estimate indicates that at least 3 million AR-15-type rifles have been produced for the law enforcement and civilian markets up to the present day (see ARES, 2015). Weapons produced for the civilian market are not included in the production totals considered in this study. Civilian buyers, particularly in conflict and post-conflict areas, may also purchase self-loading service rifles illicitly. These have been included in the production figures reported in this study, since many of them reach civilian hands after passing through military arsenals, such as the millions of firearms which have fallen outside of state control in Iraq, Libya, Syria, or the former Yugoslavia. In most cases, it is difficult to determine how many rifles are no longer in state arsenals as a result of such a transfer of ownership. The exception is for states with documented programmes for the transfer of self-loading service rifles to civilian owners, such as the US Civilian Marksmanship Program (CMP, n.d.).

V. Durability and attrition ambiguity

Durability and longevity of self-loading rifles⁶⁸

Firearms are highly durable products: they can be stored for long periods of time with minimal degradation. This is primarily due to the mechanical requirements of firearms, in particular the requirement that their construction materials be able to withstand the significant heat and pressure effects of firing. Self-loading rifles in particular must be able to withstand rapid, repeated firing. As a result, the critical components of self-loading rifles are typically constructed of highly durable materials such as steel or other alloyed metals (McCollum, 2015a).

Given that the most commonly worn and damaged components of self-loading rifles (such as a weapon's furniture or springs) are easily repaired or replaced, it is not uncommon for such weapons to have a service life of several decades. The US Civilian Marksmanship Program, for example, is still selling M1 Garand rifles produced in the 1940s and 1950s (CMP, n.d.). Even weapons in regular use and suffering from poor maintenance are likely to remain functional, albeit less accurate (McCollum, 2015a). Nonetheless, weapons requiring repair will only be returned to a functional state according to the capacity of their users. US military armourers, for example, can restore a large proportion of service rifles to full function during both high-tempo operations and training (Russell, 2006). Loss from breakage affects civilian owners at a higher rate, with dysfunctional guns estimated to constitute 25 per cent of all civilianomy owned firearms (Weisser, 2013).

AK-type rifles, for example, have proved to be very durable. Kalashnikovtype weapons dating from the 1960s and earlier are regularly documented in conflict zones around the world. International Security Assistance Force (ISAF) troops in Afghanistan captured several well-worn but functional examples of AK and AKM rifles manufactured in the 1950s (Iannamico, 2015). Years of firing corrosive ammunition with limited cleaning usually severely degrades the bores of these weapons, and will also expose a weak point of the AK design the gas tube. This component, produced from a relatively thin sheet metal, corrodes if not properly cleaned, eventually degrading to the point where the weapon will malfunction (US Army Captured Materiel Exploitation Center, 1968). Nonetheless, this process takes considerable time and can be mitigated with proper cleaning. While the AK has a well-deserved reputation for reliability, the fact is that many self-loading rifles will remain functional over extended periods of time—particularly when properly stored and receiving appropriate preventive maintenance.

The oldest self-loading rifles to be mass produced date from the 1930s and 1940s, and it is not uncommon to see rifles from this period in modern conflict zones. German StG 44 assault rifles have been documented during the ongoing conflict in Syria on numerous occasions, likely transferred to Syria by East Germany or the Soviet Union several decades ago (Al-Tawhid Brigade, 2012). StG 44 rifles have also been documented in Algeria, Ethiopia, Iraq, and Somalia, and while it appears that only some 440,000 of these weapons were manufactured, 7.92×33 mm ammunition—compatible primarily with these weapons—remains available today (see ARES, 2015; Madriñán, 2012; Prvi Partizan, n.d.). In Mali, SKS and Type 56⁶⁹ self-loading rifles that were likely 60 to 70 years old were documented together with even older bolt-action rifles in a cache seized from suspected militants in 2014 (Ferguson, 2014b). The current conflict in Ukraine has featured decades-old rifles in service with pro-Russian Federation militants, including SKS rifles and other Second World War-era weapons such as PPSh-41 and PPS-43 sub-machine guns and PTRS-41 and PTRD anti-tank rifles (Ferguson and Jenzen-Jones, 2014b).

Country	Rifle type	Action	Number	Year of estimate
Brazil	Unknown	Bolt-action	823,000	2010
India	Lee-Enfield ^a	Bolt-action	2,155,000	2014
Russian Federation	Various	Various	9,000,000	2009
South Korea	M1 Garand	Self-loading	850,000	2010
Ukraine	Various	Various	3,500,000	2014

Table 3 Examples of state security forces' holdings of obsolete small arms

^a Chambered primarily for .303 British and .410 musket.

Source: Dreyfus et al. (2010); Fox News (2010); Karp and Rajagopalan (2014); Luhn (2014); Russian Federation (2010)

Besides irreparable breakage or deterioration, states lose possession of military small arms in other ways. They may be transferred to other state militaries, changing ownership but staying in military control, although this does not necessarily make them easier to quantify. They can be diverted from military control when taken (often illegally) by former soldiers, insurgents, or civilians (see above). They can be destroyed through formal demilitarization. Some states also maintain significant holdings of obsolescent firearms that are no longer in service with their military or internal security forces (see Table 3).

Box 4 Current and historical holdings of self-loading service rifles in the Republic of Croatia⁷⁰

When the Republic of Croatia was recognized as an independent state in January 1992, the Croatian Army had no standard service rifle. The Croatian military was equipped with a range of AK-type rifles originating in Albania, Bulgaria, China, Egypt, the former East Germany, Hungary, Romania, the former Soviet Union, the former Yugoslavia, and elsewhere. While attempts were made to standardize AK-type rifles of different provenance within military units, it was not until 2009 that a phased replacement programme was launched. This programme has sought to replace the existing mixture of rifle models with the domestically produced HS Produkt VHS-K1 and VHS-D1 self-loading rifles. In 2015 the newer VHS-K2 and VHS-D2 models supplemented these rifles.

Correspondence from the Croatian Ministry of Defence indicates that many of the AK-type rifles in the possession of the Croatian Army were seized from military depots of the former Yugoslav Army during the conflict in the 1990s. Limited numbers were also imported. All of the VHS-series rifles are domestically produced by HS Produkt d.o.o. in Karlovac. They are selective-fire bullpup rifles chambered for the 5.56 × 45 mm SCHV cartridge. Croatia is moving away from the Eastern Bloc 7.62 × 39 mm calibre in favour of NATO-standard calibres, simplifying interoperability during peacekeeping operations such as the recent deployment of Croatian troops to Afghanistan alongside ISAF partners. The VHS-K1 and VHS-K2 are short-barrelled variants (410 mm) of the VHS-D1 and VHS-D2 (500 mm) (HS Produkt, 2014). Table 4 shows the current status of all self-loading service rifles held by the Armed Forces of the Republic of Croatia, according to the Croatian Ministry of Defence.

Newer, domestically produced rifles now account for more than one-third of the 24,109 self-loading service rifles in active use with the Croatian Armed Forces. Nonetheless, Croatia still maintains extensive stockpiles of other rifles. Nearly three times the number of self-loading service rifles in active use have been sold or donated to other states since 1992, and more than four times the number of active service rifles remain stockpiled in Croatia. These rifles are now considered obsolete by the Croatian Ministry of Defence, but are likely held with a view to further sale, because the sale of surplus small arms and light weapons is Croatia's preferred method of disposal (Gobinet, 2011). The total number of self-loading service rifles (197,193⁷¹) held by Croatia is generally in line with estimates of total small arms and light weapons holdings ('over 260,000') given in Croatia's 2006 Long-term Development Plan (SEESAC, 2006).

	AK-type rifles	VHS-series rifles
Active service	16,450	7,659
Storage or reserve	103,029	272
Sold or donated	63,884	0
Decommissioned or destroyed	5,899	0
Missing or unaccounted for	0	0

Table 4 Current status of Croatian Armed Forces' self-loading service rifles

Source: Figures provided by the Croatian Ministry of Defence to ARES/the Small Arms Survey, 22 September 2015

The largest known stockpiles of legacy military firearms belong to the Russian Federation and Ukraine. Ten years ago the Ukrainian surplus numbered some 6–15 million excess firearms (Griffiths and Karp, 2008). More recent estimates account for subsequent surplus destruction and Ukrainian exports, and put the total at 3.5 million small arms and light weapons (Luhn, 2014). Less data is available on stockpiles in China or the Russian Federation. The latter's government has in the past announced plans to dispose of more than 9 million small arms and light weapons (Russian Federation, 2010). Surplus military small arm destruction has been an important theme for the international community. Between 1991 and 2006, organized destruction projects eliminated at least 8.5 million obsolescent, obsolete, or unwanted small arms; some three-quarters of these were from state armed services (Karp, 2007).

Repair, modification, and modernization of existing selfloading service rifles

The repair, modification, and modernization of self-loading service rifles complicates the task of quantifying the number of these weapons systems in existence. Different militaries have their own standards for wear and replacement. The official life of a US military M9 pistol is 17,000 rounds, although future US Army pistols are expected to have a 25,000-round service life (Parsons, 2014). Self-loading rifles operate to similar standards. China's 'Type 81 [rifle] was built to last 20,000 rounds compared to AK copies [Type 56] of 10,000–15,000 rounds' (Johnston and Nelson, 2010, p. 175). For non-state armed groups, of course, these standards are often meaningless. Self-loading rifles are often documented in service with these groups in a state of disrepair or wear that would be unacceptable to most state militaries.

Self-loading rifles in the service of state militaries may be refurbished or rebuilt by armourers, which can complicate efforts to classify or, in particular, to count rifles. In some countries with substantial inventories of cold war-era weapons, armourers frequently rebuild in-service rifles from existing stocks of spare components or by breaking down rifles for parts. In some cases, these spares are in 'as-new' condition. Between 1975 and 1985, the United Kingdom purchased 385,250 SA80 rifles and light support weapons to equip its armed forces, which numbered some 330,000 personnel. Defence budget cuts have continued to reduce these forces, which now number around 82,000, and the corresponding stockpile of unassigned weapons has meant that no new SA80-type rifles have been manufactured since 1994 (ARES, 2015; *The Guardian*, 2011).

Militaries may also rely on newly manufactured components supplied by third parties to repair or modify existing self-loading rifles. When the UK military decided in the early 2000s to upgrade its SA80-type rifles from the L85A1 model to the L85A2, it purchased new complete receivers from Heckler & Koch. Weapons fitted with new receivers during this upgrade process retained the serial number of the original weapon, even though the serial-numbered component (the 'primary controlled component'; Ferguson, Jenzen-Jones, and McCollum, 2014) was replaced in its entirety. According to the UK Ministry of Defence, 200,000 upgraded SA80-type rifles remain in service (ARES, 2015). The UK government gave 400 such rifles to the Royal Bermuda Regiment in 2015⁷² (UK MoD, 2016). Similar practice occurs in a number of militaries, including in France with the FAMAS and in Israel with weapons rebuilt from legacy AR-15-type carbines and rifles.

With the advent of increasingly modular weapons, rifles may not be procured as a 'complete' weapon in the traditional way. Complete upper receivers or modular systems may be purchased and allocated to rifles with existing serial numbers, which may complicate the process of categorizing, counting, and tracing military small arms (see 'Box 2, Modular rifles', above).

VI. Conclusion

Since the introduction in the mid-to-late 1800s of self-contained metallic cartridges and smokeless propellants enabled the production of the earliest selfloading rifles, these weapons have been produced for and used by national armed forces. Following the adoption of limited quantities of rifles, such as the Danish M1896 and Swiss-made *M1908 Mondragón* around the turn of the century, the First and Second World Wars saw the production, adoption, and use of significant numbers of self-loading service rifles. Types such as the SVT-40 and M1 Garand, chambered for full-power rifle cartridges, were supplemented in the mid-to-late 1940s by intermediate-calibre rifles such as the StG 44, SKS, and AK. While rifles, including the FAL and G3, continued to be produced in full-power calibres, a trend towards small-calibre, high-velocity ammunition soon took hold, heralding the adoption of types such as the AR-15, Type 95, and AK-74 from the 1970s onwards. SCHV rifles continue to predominate today, although there are signs of an increasing interest in new so-called 'generalpurpose' calibres.

A variety of different models of self-loading service rifles have been produced, both under licence and without a licence. As with any commercial good manufactured today, intellectual property and data rights are fundamental features of the production landscape for these weapons. States' own manufacturing facilities tended to produce self-loading service rifles of the First and Second World Wars. After the Second World War, significant quantities of rifles were licensed for production outside their countries of origin. Modern arms manufacturers are increasingly securing contracts for the licensing of rifle production based on their ability to deliver complete 'product solutions', including IP rights, training, engineering assistance, and specialized machinery.

Estimates of small arms production numbers are an important part of the global small arms picture. Understanding how best to classify and count these weapons, including self-loading rifles, is critical in supporting efforts to counter illicit proliferation. While precise figures are not available for some types, this

study's final estimates of cumulative global production make optimal use of available data sources. A great many models of self-loading service rifles have been produced; however, only 4 families of rifles still in production have been manufactured in quantities exceeding 5 million units: AK-type rifles (an estimated 76 million), AR-10 and AR-15 types (est. 13 million), G3 types (est. 8 million), and FAL types (est. 5.5 million). These account for nearly 60 per cent of all self-loading service rifles produced to date.

However, data constraints limit the precision of these figures. Production for the civilian and law enforcement markets, for example, is sometimes difficult to disaggregate from production for the military in the case of certain self-loading rifles. Similarly, the acquisition of arms formerly in state arsenals by civilians, including non-state armed groups, can be difficult to quantify: except in a few cases, records are either non-existent or inaccessible. The increasing popularity of modular firearms, particularly those offering calibre conversion, and the repair, modification, and modernization of self-loading service rifles can impede attempts to accurately classify and count such weapons. It is clear that state holdings may decline through attrition—or remain stable as a result of the retention of older weapons following their repair or refurbishment—but available information does not currently permit the quantification of these factors. The study's estimates of total production to date can therefore only approximate the actual figures.

This study has sought to classify and quantify the cumulative global production of self-loading service rifles, conservatively estimated at around 175 million rifles. It has examined the most significant rifle types that have been produced and considered factors that complicate the derivation of useful figures. The next step is to examine these factors of attrition, retention, and ongoing annual production in greater detail so as to increase our understanding of self-loading service rifles. **2**

Endnotes

- 1 This report was finalized in 2015 and therefore does not include more recent production.
- Including the term 'military assault rifle'. The term 'assault rifle' has become increasingly blurred by both technical developments and the operational employment of self-loading rifles. Generally, assault rifles are understood to be self-loading rifles capable of automatic fire ('automatic rifles') chambered for an intermediate cartridge (typically producing between 1,300 and 2,600 joules of muzzle energy). The term 'assault weapon' was defined in a US legal context by means of various cosmetic features found on various designs of rifle (primarily, but not exclusively, assault rifles) rather than the operating characteristics of the weapon itself. This definition in the 1994 Assault Weapons Ban actually covered civilian-owned, semi-automatic rifles (ATF, 2015). The popular media have also adopted the term 'assault weapon' as a synonym for 'assault rifle'. The former term was already in limited specialist use to describe certain light weapons. It has never been authoritatively applied to firearms outside the United States. Without qualifying language, the term is so indefinite as to apply to almost any offensive weapon. For a fuller discussion of these issues, see Ferguson et al. (2015).
- 3 A term that is found predominantly in amateur rather than military or other arms professional use.
- 4 See Bevan (2014). The term 'traditional military rifle' is unclear in meaning and is not preferred by experts.
- 5 It is important that policy-makers in the small arms field are able to readily understand the issues surrounding the development, employment, and production of self-loading service rifles. Key to this is specific, technically accurate terminology that correctly reflects the selfloading rifles and other small arms and light weapons that policy-makers intend to regulate. Clear, technically accurate definitions are also essential to the comprehensive analysis of specific rifle types, models, countries, and manufacturers.
- 6 The full meaning of the abbreviations for well-known types of self-loading rifles—for example, the AR-15—are given in the list of 'Abbreviations and acronyms', unless their names need further explanation.
- 7 Or even smaller data points, such as the production of one variant of one rifle type in one country.
- 8 Early automatic arms such as the Gatling and Gardner guns required the user to cycle the weapon by turning a crank handle, while modern externally powered guns, such as chain guns, are driven by electric motors. Self-loading weapons make use of the energy generated by the propellant, which would otherwise be wasted (Goad and Halsey, 1982).
- 9 For *'poudre blanche'*, or white powder, differentiated from *poudre N*, for *'poudre noire'*, or black powder (Davis, 1943/1990).
- 10 Rasmussen later changed his family name to Bjarnov (Popenker, n.d.)
- 11 Approximately 60 rifles were purchased for use in defending coastal fortifications, including Middelgrundsfortet. Fifty-six examples remained in service until 1932; however, they were never used in combat (Arma-Dania, n.d.b).

- 12 Mondragón's self-loading rifle received a US Patent on 14 May 1907, and as such is sometimes referred to as the *M1907 Mondragón* (McCollum, 2011a; Mondragón, 1907).
- 13 The weapon's designation includes reference to Porfirio Diaz, the then-president of Mexico and widely acknowledged as Mondragón's patron (Johnston and Nelson, 2010).
- 14 The Remington Model 8 and Winchester Models 1905, 1907, and 1910, for example, proved very popular in the United States. Some 69,000 Model 8 rifles were produced between 1906 and 1936, and approximately 108,383 Model 1905/1907/1910 rifles were produced between 1905 and 1957. These were overwhelmingly for civilian sales, with some law enforcement use (Henshaw, 1993; Woodall, 2016).
- 15 These included the Russian Avtomat Federova; the French Fusil Automatique Modèle 1917 RSC (Mle 17); the German Mauser M1916; and the British Rifle, .303 inch, Pattern 1918 (Farquhar-Hill). The French Mle 1917 and Mle 1918 were the only self-loading rifles produced in notable quantities during the First World War, with a combined total of some 89,333 weapons (Huon, 1988; 1995). It should be noted that this is a comparatively low number compared to how many manually operated rifles were produced in the same period.
- 16 Although the German military nominally adopted the StG 44 in 1944, in practice the Karabiner 98k remained the standard-issue rifle for the duration of the war. By comparison, approximately 440,000 StG 44 rifles and 888 million 7.92 × 33 mm cartridges were produced by Germany during the Second World War, whereas nearly 9 million Karabiner 98K bolt-action rifles and some 8.4 billion 7.92 × 57 mm cartridges were produced (Boelcke, 1969; Johnston and Nelson, 2010).
- 17 Contemporary acquisitions programmes have shown similar resistance to the so-called 'general-purpose cartridge', notwithstanding increasingly compelling evidence of its superior ballistics and utility (Jenzen-Jones, 2016a).
- 18 Like the later AK, numerous copies and derivatives—both licensed and unlicensed—of the Model 98 were produced; however, Mauser, a commercial entity, actively sought to maintain control of its patents. Approximately 102 million have been made from 1898 to the present (ARES, 2015; Ball, 2006).
- 19 In 1971 the UN recognized Taiwan as a province of China.
- 20 Samozaryadnaya Vintovka Tokareva obraztsa 1940 ('Tokarev self-loading rifle, model of 1940').
- 21 Early articulation of the intermediate-cartridge concept in German military thinking can be found in a study by Hauptmann Piderit of the Gewehr-Prüfungskommission in 1918, in which he makes the case for a reduced-power cartridge and a rifle capable of automatic fire. He notes that very few infantry engagements take place at more than 800 m, and that contemporary cartridges, which were capable of engaging targets at over twice that distance, were unnecessary for a service rifle (Erenfeicht, 2013).
- 22 Also known as the MP 43 and MP 44 (Johnston and Nelson, 2010).
- 23 Modern definitions of what constitutes an assault rifle vary. Ferguson et al. (2015) define assault rifles as 'Rifles capable of firing multiple shots with each trigger pull, primarily intended to be fired from the shoulder, and chambered for a rifle calibre cartridge typically producing between 1,300 and 2,600 Joules muzzle energy'.
- 24 Some 440,000 StG 44-type rifles were manufactured (Johnston and Nelson, 2010).
- 25 Many sources refer to the AK as the AK-47. This is, strictly speaking, incorrect, with the term 'AK-47' only applicable to the original prototype design (Ferguson and Jenzen-Jones, 2014a).

The media have widely adopted the term AK-47 to refer to any AK-type rifle, and often to other, unrelated weapons (Iannamico, 2015).

- 26 The Avtomat Kalashnikov Modernizirovanniy (AKM) was introduced in 1959. It is an updated model of the earlier AK rifle, which was developed immediately after the Second World War (Ferguson and Jenzen-Jones, 2014a).
- 27 The AK was first issued in noteworthy quantities between 1949 and 1952, and was replaced in Soviet service by the AKM from 1959, the Avtomat Kalashnikova obraztsa 1974 (AK-74) from 1974, and then the Avtomat Kalashnikova obraztsa 1974 Modernizirovanniy (AK-74M) from 1991 (Ferguson and Jenzen-Jones, 2014a; Hogg, 1979). The latest incarnation, the AK-12, was accepted by the Russian Federation military in January, 2015 (Wilks, 2015). It is unclear when or how many AK-12 rifles will be adopted by the Russian military.
- 28 While there were earlier cartridges than the post-Second World War British developments that possessed similar characteristics—such as the Japanese 6.5 × 50SR mm and Danish 7 × 44 mm—the British initiative represents the first comprehensive push towards a selfloading service rifle chambered for an intermediate-calibre cartridge undertaken by a NATO member state (Dugelby, 1980; Ford, 2008).
- 29 Early prototypes of the FN Herstal FAL (see below).
- 30 FN Herstal had earlier been involved with the development of the .280 cartridge, and began to develop early versions of the FAL rifle chambered for this round (Ford, 2008).
- 31 The US Board of Ordnance stated: 'the Army is firmly opposed to the adoption of any less effective smaller caliber cartridge for use in either its present rifle or in new weapons. Any new rifle cartridge adopted must have the wounding power, penetration performance, and ballistics at least equal to that in use today [the .30-o6]' (*Spokesman-Review*, 1951).
- 32 NATO Standardization Agreement 2310 was ratified in 1957 (Pellegrino and Kirkman, 2011).
- 33 While the United Kingdom had adopted the EM.2 rifle and its ammunition as the 'Rifle, 7mm, No.9 Mark 1' and 'Cartridge, SA, Ball, 7mm Mark 1' in August 1951, this decision was quickly reversed following the general election of that year. The United Kingdom later adopted a modified FN Herstal FAL chambered for 7.62 × 51 mm as the 'Rifle, 7.62mm, L1A1' in 1954 (Edwards, 2014).
- 34 The earliest FAL prototypes were chambered for the German 7.92 × 33 mm cartridge. Later examples were chambered for the British .280 calibre round.
- 35 Several countries, including the United Kingdom, adopted so-called 'inch-pattern' FAL rifles manufactured to slightly different imperial unit specifications.
- 36 The so-called 'roller-locking' breech mechanism is a retarded blowback design with a development story beginning in the inter-war period and in Second World War-era Germany, and with subsequent post-war chapters in France, Spain, and Germany. For a fuller discussion of the development of the roller-locking breech, see Stevens (2006).
- 37 While the Soviet Union later introduced the 5.45 \times 39 mm SCHV cartridge (still standard issue for the Russian Federation armed forces), the 5.56 \times 45 mm and 7.62 \times 39 mm cartridges remain the predominant military rifle cartridges in service (ARES, 2015).
- 38 By way of comparison, 104 7.62 × 51 mm M80 cartridges weigh approximately the same as 210 5.56 × 45 mm M855 cartridges (5.5 lbs, or almost 2.5 kg) (Schatz, 2015).
- 39 The Type 95 family of weapons includes assault rifles, carbines, and light machine guns, as well as a sniper rifle, a general-purpose machine gun, and a machine gun intended for armoured fighting vehicle use (Andrew, 2015).

- 40 For a fuller discussion of general-purpose-calibre cartridges, see Jenzen-Jones (2016a).
- 41 A split-receiver design is one in which the main 'body' of the rifle consists of two parts, generally known as an 'upper receiver' and a 'lower receiver'. This design may allow for ease of access to operating components and the easier replacement of either receiver portion.
- 42 One notable exception was the installation of top covers with 'Sight Unit, Infantry, Trilux' (SUIT) optical sight mounts on the UK's version of the FAL—the L1A1 Self-loading Rifle—which occurred at the armourer level (Stevens, 1980).
- 43 'Collectively, the buttstock and the fore end (along with other non-critical, ergonomic components of the weapon, such as the pistol grip) are often referred to as "furniture". A weapon's furniture may be wooden, synthetic, metallic, or made of other materials' (Jenzen-Jones, 2015, p. 4).
- 44 Eastern Bloc counterparts can be seen in the AK and its derived RPK light machine gun, which were eventually followed by the AK-74 series of weapons, including the RPK-74 light machine gun and AKS-74U automatic carbine.
- 45 Special operations forces may change barrel lengths according to operational needs; for example, a shorter barrel may be preferred for close-quarters battle operations in urban environments, while a longer barrel may prove advantageous where longer-range engagements are expected.
- 46 From 1994 until its cancellation in stages during the mid-2000s, the US Objective Individual Combat Weapon programme sought to develop a 'modular' weapon system, consisting of a 5.56 × 45 mm carbine and a semi-automatic 20 mm grenade launcher. These two components could each be employed separately or as a 'dual munition weapon system' (TACOM/ ARDEC, 1998). While the US military did not adopt a combined self-loading rifle/grenade launcher, the programme did spawn many further developments, including the XM8 rifle.
- 47 A subsidiary of FN Herstal of Belgium.
- 48 Sometimes known simply as the 'control component'—as in, for example, Persi Paoli (2015).
- 49 Full name: International Instrument to Enable States to Identify and Trace, in a Timely and Reliable Manner, Illicit Small Arms and Light Weapons. See UNGA (2005).
- 50 For example, the primary controlled component of typical AR-15-type rifles in the United States is the lower receiver, whereas the upper receiver plays a more integral role in the operation of the weapon (and would more properly fulfil the definition of an 'essential or structural component' under the ITI) (Ferguson, Jenzen-Jones, and McCollum, 2014).
- 51 Most commonly, such marks are abraded by filing, grinding, or milling.
- 52 The M4 is a shorter and lighter 'carbine' variant of the M16A2 self-loading rifle and shares many common parts. It was adopted by the US military in 1994 (Bartocci, 2004). The maximum effective range for the M4 carbine when engaging point targets is given as 500 m in FM 3-22.9 (US Army, 2008a). The US Army (2008a, Glossary-7) defines 'maximum effective range' as 'the greatest distance at which a soldier may be expected to deliver a target hit'.
- 53 Examples include the L96A1 and L115A3 in British service, the Steyr SSG 69 in Austrian service, and the Parker Hale C3 series in Canadian service.
- 54 The Canadian Rangers are a sub-component of the Canadian Armed Forces Reserve, serving as Canada's military presence in the sparsely settled northern, coastal, and isolated areas of the country. In the course of their military duties members frequently employ their issued rifles for hunting and defence against predators (Jenzen-Jones, 2016b).

- 55 AK-type rifles have been considered together, regardless of calibre. It is often difficult to disaggregate AK-type rifle production data by calibre, because many manufacturers produce very similar weapons in different calibres (most commonly 7.62 × 39 mm and 5.45 × 39 mm, although other calibres such as 5.56 × 45 mm are also found).
- ⁵⁶ 'IP' is taken to mean patents, copyrights, trademarks, and trade secrets (Ryan and Chen, 2010).
- 57 In one notable case, FN Herstal refused to grant Germany a production licence for a significant number of rifles. Germany had purchased over 100,000 rifles and would have adopted the FAL as a standard-issue rifle if not for this political hurdle. Instead, Germany adopted the G₃, and Heckler & Koch began to widely issue licences for this competitor to the FAL.
- 58 Now Burkina Faso.
- 59 Unlimited rights apply to technical data developed entirely at government expense, and generally allow for unlimited use both within and outside of government (e.g. commercial use); government purpose rights usually apply to technical data developed with mixed funding, and generally allow for unlimited use within government, but not for external or commercial use; limited rights apply to technical data developed entirely at private expense, and generally may not be used by government for manufacturing purposes. Permitted uses outside of government may include emergency repair or evaluation by foreign governments (Ryan and Chen, 2010).
- 60 See DFARS 252.227-7013(b)(1) (US Department of Defense, 2014).
- 61 MIL-STD-31000 goes on to say, 'The description defines the required design configuration or performance requirements, and procedures required to ensure adequacy of item performance. It consists of applicable technical data such as models, drawings, associated lists, specifications, standards, patterns, performance requirements, QAP [quality assurance provisions], software documentation and packaging details' (US Department of Defense, 2009, p. 8).
- 62 These provisions are described in Contract No. DAAF03-67-C-0108 and the 'Technical Data Sales & Patent License Agreement' (Ryan and Chen, 2010).
- 63 More properly, An Act to Promote the Defense of the United States (Pub.L. 77–11, H.R. 1776, 55 Stat. 31, enacted 11 March 1941).
- 64 Correspondence from S. Naval Attaché to Chief, Bureau of Ordnance, US Navy on 1 September 1941, in US Navy Bureau of Ordnance (n.d.).
- 65 FN Herstal also offered to produce the first FAL rifle chambered for the T65 cartridge for the United States at no cost (Rayle, 1996).
- 66 Interviews with confidential defence industry sources.
- 67 The Mini-14 was adopted by the Bermuda Regiment, a territorial defence unit subordinate to the British Army.
- 68 For a fuller assessment of the factors contributing to the durability of self-loading rifles, see McCollum (2015a).
- 69 The Chinese copy of the SKS, designated the Type 56; not to be confused with the Chinese AK/AKM derivative also designated the Type 56.
- 70 This section draws on correspondence between ARES/the Small Arms Survey and the Croatian Ministry of Defence conducted specifically for this study.
- Figure provided by the Croatian Ministry of Defence to ARES/the Small Arms Survey, 22 September 2015.

72 The Royal Bermuda Regiment is a territorial defence unit for the British Overseas Territory of Bermuda. In addition to the transfer of 400 L85A2 rifles, the regiment also received 1,600 magazines, 440 TA31 optical weapons sights, and 4 collimator-type weapons sights (UK MoD, 2016).

Bibliography

Abas, Marhalim. 2014. 'Malaysia Standard Rifle.' Malaysia Defence. 4 February. دى ويتالا ءاول ذى عون قى لم ع ىف قعون تم قرى خذو قدوراب 5000 نم رشك ادى حوت لا عاول '. Al-Tawhid Brigade. 2012 10 8 2012.' YouTube. Posted 10 August. Andrew, Martin. 2015. How the PLA Fights: Weapons and Tactics of the People's Liberation Army. Revised edition. Limited-distribution report. Antaris, Leonardo. 2009. Astra Firearms and Selected Competitors. Sterling, CO: FIRAC. Antill, P. 2009. 'SA80 (Small Arms for the 1980s): The Sorry Saga of the British Bulldog's Bullpup.' HistoryOfWar.org. 28 August. AR15.com. 2005. 'oColt's USGI M16 Series Variation Guide Edition IV.' 29 June. ARES (Armament Research Services). 2015. Global Development & Production of Self-loading Military Service Rifles. Unpublished background paper. Geneva: Small Arms Survey. Arma-Dania. n.d.a. 'Ad Gevar, Vis Records [Id: 92].' -. n.d.b. 'Ad Gevar, Vis Records [Id: 88].' Arvidsson, Per. 2009. 'Weapons & Sensors.' Presentation at NDIA Small Arms Symposium 2009. ATF (Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives). 2015. ATF Guidebook: Importation & Verification of Firearms, Ammunition and Implements of War. Ball, R.W.D. 2006. Mauser Military Rifles of the World, 4th edn. Iola, WI: Gun Digest Books. Bartocci, Christopher. 2004. Black Rifle II: The M16 into the 21st Century. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications. -. 2014. 'The Chinese CQA.' Small Arms Defense Journal, Vol. 6, No. 2. Bekdil, Burak. 2014. 'New Turkish Rifle Passes Tests.' Defense News. 17 March. Bevan, James. 2014. Traditional Military Rifles. Research Note No. 38. Geneva: Small Arms Survey. January. Boelcke, Willi. 1969. Deutschlands Rüstung im Zweiten Weltkrieg: Hitlers Konferenzen mit Albert Speer 1942–1945. Frankfurt: Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft Athenaion. Bolotin, D.N. 1995. Soviet Small Arms and Ammunition. Helsinki: Finnish Arms Museum Foundation. British Army. 2015. 'L115A3 Long Range "Sniper" Rifle.' Website. Burton, Glen. 2005. 'Albanian SKS Survey.' Yugo Survey. 9 February. Cadillac Gage Company. 1967. Stoner 63A Weapons System. Sales brochure. Detroit, MI: Cadillac Gage Company. Calhoun, Herbert. 1998. Small Arms and Light Weapons: Can They Be Controlled? Washington, DC: US Department of State. Canfield, Bruce. 2013. The M1 Garand Rifle. Woonsocket, RI: Andrew Mowbray. Cashner, Robert. 2013. The FN FAL Battle Rifle. Osprey Weapon No. 27. Oxford: Osprey. Chivers, C.J. 2011. The Gun: The Story of the AK-47. New York, NY: Simon & Schuster.

CMP (Civilian Marksmanship Program). n.d. 'Civilian Marksmanship Program Rifle Sales.'

Colt (Colt's Manufacturing Company LLC). 2015. 'Colt Law Enforcement Carbine.' Web page.

Control Arms. 2006. The AK-47: The World's Favourite Killing Machine.

- Cramer, Maria. 2013. 'Boston Police Planning to Add to Weapons Arsenal.' *The Boston Globe*. 5 November.
- Davis, Tenney. 1943/1990. *The Chemistry of Powder and Explosives*, Vols. I and II. New York, NY: John Wiley/Hollywood, CA: Angriff Press.
- Defense World.net. 2011. 'ATK Expands Partnerships with MKEK to Provide Training & Technical Support.' 14 September.
- Dreyfus, Pablo et al. 2010. *Small Arms in Brazil: Production, Trade, and Holdings*. Special Report No. 11. Geneva: Small Arms Survey. September.
- Drumheller, Carl. n.d. 'History.' Romanian SKS Guide. Accessed 20 April 2015.
- Dugelby, Thomas. 1980. *EM-2 Concept and Design: A Rifle ahead of Its Time*. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications.
- Edwards, Tony. 2014. 'British Self-loading Rifles 1944–1953.' Presentation to the Historical Breechloading Smallarms Association of Great Britain, London.
- Eger, Chris. 2014b. 'FN Fal: "The Right Arm of the Free World".' Guns.com. 3 March.
- Ehrhart, Thomas. 2009. Increasing Small Arms Lethality in Afghanistan: Taking Back the Infantry Halfkilometer. Fort Leavenworth, KS: School of Advanced Military Studies, US Army Command and General Staff College.
- Emerson, Lee. 2009 (rev. 2012). M14 Rifle History and Development, Vol. 1. Self-published.
- Erenfeicht, Leszek. 2013. 'Sturmgewehr: Hitler's Only True Wunderwaffe.' Small Arms Defense Journal, Vol. 5, No. 3. Henderson, NV: Chipotle.
- Ezell, Edward. 1986. *The AK-47 Story: Evolution of the Kalashnikov Weapons*. Mechanicsburg, PA: Stackpole Books.
- Ezell, Virginia. 2000. 'Arms Guru B-day Bash Offers Policy Forum.' *National Defense*, Vol. 84, No. 554. The FAL Files. 2015. Website. http://www.falfiles.com
- Ferguson, Jonathan. 2014a. *The Development of Modular Weapon Systems*. Unpublished background paper. Perth: Armament Research Services.
- -. 2014b. 'Small Arms Recovered in Mali Raid.' The Hoplite (ARES company blog).
- and N.R. Jenzen-Jones. 2014a. An Introduction to Basic AK Type Rifle Identification. Research Note No. 6. Perth: Armament Research Services.
- —. 2014b. Raising Red Flags: An Examination of Arms & Munitions in the Ongoing Conflict in Ukraine, 2014. ARES Research Report No. 3. Perth: Armament Research Services.
- Ferguson, Jonathan, N.R. Jenzen-Jones, and Ian McCollum. 2014. Marking of Critical Firearms Components as Applied to Modular Weapon Systems. Confidential background paper. Perth: Armament Research Services.
- Ferguson, Jonathan et al. 2015. Definitions of Small Arms & Light Weapons Types as Outlined in the International Tracing Instrument. Unpublished background paper. Perth: Armament Research Services.
- FNH USA. 2006. 'The Making of the 21st Century Assault Rifle: SCAR SOF Combat Assault Rifle.' Press release. McLean, VA: FNH USA.
- Ford, Matthew. *The British Army and the Politics of Rifle Development, 1880 to 1986*. PhD thesis. London: King's College London.
- Fox News. 2010. 'Obama Administration Reverses Course, Forbids Sale of 850,000 Antique Rifles.' 1 September.

- Francis, Miguel. 2013. 'Legendary Russian Arms Designer Mikhail Kalashnikov Dies at 94.' *The Voice of Russia.* 23 December.
- Gander, Terry J. 1986. The 40mm Bofors Gun. Wellingborough: Patrick Stephens.
- Gangarosa, Gene. 2001. Heckler & Koch: Armorers of the Free World. Accokeek, MD: Stoeger.
- George, John. 1948. Shots Fired in Anger: A Rifleman's View of the War in the Pacific, 1942–1945. Fairfax, VA: National Rifle Association.
- Goad, K.J.W. and D.H.J. Halsey. 1982. 'Ammunition (Including Grenades and Mines).' Brassey's Battlefield Weapons Systems & Technology, Vol. III. Oxford: Brassey's.
- Gobinet, Pierre. 2011. Significant Surpluses: Weapons and Ammunition Stockpiles in South-east Europe. Special Report No. 13. Geneva: Small Arms Survey.
- Griffiths, Hugh and Aaron Karp. 2008. 'Ukraine: Coping with Post-Soviet Legacies.' *Contemporary Security Policy*, Vol. 29, No. 1 (April), pp. 202–22.
- *Guardian*. 2011. 'Army Cuts: How Have UK Armed Forces Personnel Numbers Changed over Time?' 1 September.
- Hall, Donald. 1952. *An Effectiveness Study of the Infantry Rifle*. Memorandum Report No. 593. Aberdeen: Ballistic Research Laboratories, Ordnance Corps, US Army.
- Hancock, J.G. 1973. 'The TRILUX Infantry Sight Unit.' Jane's International Defense Review, April. London: Jane's Group.
- Henshaw, Thomas. 1993. The History of Winchester Firearms 1866–1992. Clinton: Winchester Press.
- Hitchman, Norman. 1952. Operational Requirements for an Infantry Hand Weapon. Technical Memorandum ORO-T-160. Baltimore, MD: Operations Research Office, Johns Hopkins University.
- H&K (Heckler & Koch) Defense. n.d. 'XM8: One Weapon—Four Variants.' Marketing flyer. Sterling: H&K Defense.
- Hogg, Ian. 1979. Guns and How They Work. New York, NY: Everest House.
- Holtom, Paul. 2007. Small Arms Production in Russia. London: Saferworld.
- HS Produkt. 2014. 'VHS.' Website.
- Huon, Jean. 1988. Military Rifle and Machine Gun Cartridges. Alexandria: Ironside International.
- —. 1995. Proud Promise: French Autoloading Rifles, 1898–1979. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications.
- -. 2012. 'CETME Modelo L Assault Rifle.' Small Arms Review, Vol. 16, No. 2.
- Iannamico, Frank. 2008. AK-47: The Grim Reaper. Henderson, NV: Chipotle.
- —. 2015. Global Production of AK Type Rifles. Unpublished background paper. Geneva: Small Arms Survey.
- Jacobs, Thierry. 2013. Recent Developments in Military SALW Manufacturing, Technology and Design: Practical Steps to Ensure the Effectiveness of the Marking and Record-keeping. Unpublished background paper. Technical Consultations Meeting. Vienna: United Nations Office for Disarmament Affairs.
- Jenzen-Jones, N.R. 2015. *Documenting Small Arms and Light Weapons*. Issue Brief No. 14. Geneva: Small Arms Survey.
- 2016a. Chambering the Next Round: Emergent Small-calibre Cartridge Technologies. Working Paper No. 23. Geneva: Small Arms Survey.
- 2016b (forthcoming). 'The New Canadian Ranger Rifle (NCRR).' Small Arms Review. Henderson, NV: Chipotle.

- and Damien Spleeters. 2015. Identifying & Tracing the FN Herstal FAL Rifle: Documenting Signs of Diversion in Syria and Beyond. Perth: Armament Research Services.
- Johnson, Steve. 2015. 'EXCLUSIVE: Alexey Krivoruchko, the CEO of the Kalashnikov Group, Has Answered YOUR Questions.' The Firearm Blog. 8 April.
- Johnston, Gary and Thomas Nelson. 2010. *The World's Assault Rifles*. Lorton, VA: Ironside International. Jones, Richard, ed. 2012. *IHS Jane's Weapons: Infantry (2012/13)*. London: IHS Jane's.
- Jones, Sam. 2014. 'The Arms Cache that Makes Slavyansk Key.' Financial Times. 2 May.
- Kalashnikov, Mikhail and Elena Joly. 2006. The Gun that Changed the World. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Karp, Aaron. 2006. 'Trickle and Torrent: State Stockpiles.' In Small Arms Survey. *Small Arms Survey* 2006: Unfinished Business. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 37–63.
- —. 2007. 'Completing the Count: Civilian Firearms.' In Small Arms Survey. Small Arms Survey 2007: Guns and the City. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 39–71.
- and Rajesh Rajagopalan. 2014. Small Arms of the Indian State: A Century of Procurement and Production. Issue Brief No. 4. Geneva: Small Arms Survey.
- Kehaya, Steve and Joe Poyer. 1996. The SKS Carbine (CKC45g). Tustin, CA: North Cape.
- Kersten, Manfred and Walter Schmid. 1999. Heckler & Koch: HK; die offizielle Geschichte der Oberndorfer Firma Heckler & Koch; Einblicke in die Historie, Beschreibung der Waffenmodelle, Darstellung der Technik. Verlag Weispfennig.
- Killicoat, Phillip. 2007. 'What Price the Kalashnikov? The Economics of Small Arms.' In Small Arms Survey. Small Arms Survey 2007: Guns and the City. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 257–87.
- Kit Up! 2010. 'SOCOM Cancels Mk-16 SCAR.'
- Long, Duncan. 1998. The FN-FAL Rifle et al. Desert Publications.
- Luhn, Alec. 2014. 'Protesters in Ukraine Guard Biggest Weapons Cache in Eastern Europe.' *The Guardian*. 24 April.
- Madriñán, Jesus. 2012. 'Rifle StG-44: El padre de los fusiles de asalto modernos.' Armas.es. 27 March. McCollum, Ian. 2011a. 'Mexican Mondragon.' Forgotten Weapons.

- -. 2013b. 'Semiauto Rifles of WWI and Before.' The Firearm Blog. 23 July.
- —. 2014. '44 Bore—7.62 × 39 mm AK Rifles Modified to Fire 7.92 × 33 Kurz Ammunition'. The Hoplite (ARES company blog). 8 September.
- ---. 2015a. Durability & Longevity of Self-loading Rifles. Research Note No. 8. Perth: Armament Research Service.
- ---. 2015b. *Licensed and Unlicensed Production of Small Arms*. Unpublished background paper. Perth: Armament Research Services.
- Medard, M. Louis. 1994. 'L'oeuvre scientifique de Paul Vieille (1854–1934).' Revue d'histoire des sciences, Vol. 47, Nos. 3–4, pp. 381–404. Paris: Persée.

Military Factory. 2013. 'T86 (Type 86) Assault Rifle/Carbine/Light Machine Gun (2000).' 2 January. Mondragón, Manuel. 1907. 'Firearm.' US Patent No. 853,715. 14 May.

Monetchikov, S.B. 2005. История русского автомата. Saint Petersburg: Atlant.

Montes, Julio. 2015. *Production of Self-loading Rifles in Latin America*. Unpublished background paper. Geneva: Small Arms Survey.

- *Moscow Times*. 2015. 'Russia's Kalashnikov to Spend Millions Modernizing Arms Production This Year.' 3 March.
- Nazarian. n.d. 'AG-3 (Norwegian G3A5 Variant).' *Nazarian's Gun Recognition Guide*. Accessed 15 September 2016.
- NRA-ILA (National Rifle Association Institute for Legislative Action). 2014. 'U.S. Firearm Production Sets Record in 2012: AR-15 Production up over 100%.'
- Parsons, Dan. 2014. 'Efforts Continue to Replace Army, Air Force Small Arms.' *National Defense*, January.
- Pellegrino, Dominic and Charles Kirkman. 2011. 'NATO Small Arms Ammunition Interchangeability via Direct Evidence Testing.' Presentation at NDIA Small Arms Symposium 2011.
- Persi Paoli, Giacomo. 2015. 'From Firearms to Weapon Systems: Challenges and Implications of Modular Design for Marking, Record-keeping, and Tracing.' In Ben King and Glenn McDonald, eds. *Behind the Curve: New Technologies, New Control Challenges*. Occasional Paper No. 32. Geneva: Small Arms Survey, pp. 43–74.
- Popenker, Maxim. n.d. 'Madsen–Rasmussen (Bjarnov) M1896 World's First Military Semi-automatic Rifle.' World Guns.
- Prvi Partizan. n.d. '7.92 × 33 Kurz.' Website. Accessed 15 September 2016.
- Pyadushkin, Maxim with Maria Haug and Anna Mateeva. 2003. *Beyond the Kalashnikov: Small Arms Production, Exports, and Stockpiles in the Russian Federation*. Occasional Paper No. 10. Geneva: Small Arms Survey.
- Raw, Steve. 2003. *The Last Enfield: SA80—the Reluctant Rifle*. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications.
- Rayle, Roy. 1996. *Random Shots: Episodes in the Life of a Weapons Developer*. Bennington, VT: Merriam Press. Retro Black Rifle. n.d. 'Other U.S. Manufacturers of M16A1.' Accessed 15 September 2016.
- RIA Novosti. 2006. '90% of Kalashnikov Rifles on World Market Knockoffs—Izhmash CEO.' Sputnik International. 15 April.
- ---. 2010. 'Russia, Bulgaria Address Illegal Production of Soviet-era Weaponry.' Sputnik International. 14 November.
- -. 2014. 'Kalashnikov Small Arms Production More than Doubles.' Sputnik International. 28 April.
- Rottman, Gordon. 2011. *The AK-47: Kalashnikov-series Assault Rifles*. Osprey Weapon No. 8. Oxford: Osprey.
- RT (RT News). 2014. 'AK-47 Maker Kalashnikov to Double Production in Three Years.' 5 September.
- Russell, Sara. 2006. Soldier Perspectives on Small Arms in Combat. Alexandra, VA: Center for Naval Analyses.
- Russian Federation. 2010. Report on the Implementation in the Russian Federation of the International Instrument to Enable States to Identify and Trace, in a Timely and Reliable Manner, Illicit Small Arms and Light Weapons and the Programme of Action to Prevent, Combat and Eradicate the Illicit Trade in Small Arms and Light Weapons in All Its Aspects (as at November 2009). Moscow: Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Russian Federation.
- Ryan, Tim and Carlton Chen. 2010. 'Demystifying Intellectual Property and Data Rights: Government and Industry Perspectives.' Presentation to NDIA Joint Armaments Conference, Dallas, 17 May.
- Schatz, Jim. 2015. 'The Future of the Military Assault Rifle.' Small Arms Defense Journal, Vol. 7, No. 1.

SEESAC (South Eastern and Eastern Europe Clearinghouse for the Control of Small Arms and Light Weapons). 2006. *SALW Survey of Croatia*. Belgrade: SEESAC and BICC.

Shih, Bin. 2011. *China's Small Arms of the 2nd Sino-Japanese War*. Self-published.

Silver, Nate. 2012. *The Signal and the Noise: Why so Many Predictions Fail, but Some Don't*. New York, NY: Random House.

Singer, Natasha. 2013. 'The Most Wanted Gun in America.' The New York Times. 2 February.

Smith, W.H.B and Joseph E. Smith. 1965. The Book of Rifles. Fairfax, VA: National Rifle Association.

Spokesman-Review. 1951. 'Army Upholds Its New Rifle.' 28 December. Spokane, WA: Spokesman-Review.

- SSAA (Sporting Shooters' Association of Australia). 1997. 'The Great Australian Gun "Buyback".' Australian Shooters Journal, December.
- Stevens, R. Blake. 1979. North American FALs: NATO's Search for a Standard Rifle. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications.
- —. 1980. UK and Commonwealth FALs. Vol. II of the FAL Rifle Series. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications.
- -. 2006. Full Circle: A Treatise on Roller Locking. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications.
- —. 2011. More on the Fabled FAL: A Companion to the FAL Rifle. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications.
- and Edward Ezell. 1992. The Black Rifle: M16 Retrospective. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications.
- and Jean Van Rutten. 1981. The Metric FAL: The Free World's Right Arm. Vol. III of the FAL Rifle Series. Cobourg, Ontario: Collector Grade Publications.
- Sulashvili, B.G. 2007. 'Multiplying the Sources: Licensed and Unlicensed Military Production.' In Small Arms Survey. Small Arms Survey 2007: Guns and the City. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 161–95.
- Survivor's SKS Boards. 2011. 'Cleaned up the Post . . . Refer to the Sticky Above.' 8 July.
- TACOM/ARDEC (US Army Tank-Automotive and Armaments Command/US Army Armaments Research, Development and Engineering Center). 1998. 'Objective Individual Combat Weapon (OICW): "No Place To Hide".' Briefing sheet. Picatinny Arsenal, NJ: ARDEC.
- Thompson, Leroy. 2012. The M1 Garand. Osprey Weapon No. 16. Oxford: Osprey.
- -. 2014. The M14 Battle Rifle. Osprey Weapon No. 37. Oxford: Osprey.
- UK Ministry of Supply. 1947. The Choice of a Standard Round for Small Arms. Technical Report No. 5/47. Sevenoaks: Armaments Design Department, Ministry of Supply.
- UK MoD (Ministry of Defence). 2016. 'FOI2016/06034.' Response to Freedom of Information Act request. 4 July.
- UNGA (United Nations General Assembly). 2005. International Instrument to Enable States to Identify and Trace, in a Timely and Reliable Manner, Illicit Small Arms and Light Weapons ('International Tracing Instrument'). Adopted 8 December. A/60/88 of 27 June (Annexe).
- United States (United States of America). 2012. '10 USC § 2320-Rights in Technical Data.'
- US Army (United States Department of the Army). 2003. *Special Forces Sniper Training and Employment*. FM 3-05.222. Washington, DC: US Department of the Army.
- —. 2008a. Rifle Marksmanship: M16-/M4-Series Weapons. FM 3-22.9. Washington, DC: US Department of the Army.

-. 2009. 'M16A4 Rifles.' Procurement Order No. ACA0900141. 20 October.

- US Army Captured Materiel Exploitation Center. 1968. Analysis of Damaged Enemy Weapons. Technical Intelligence Brief No. 2-68. Charlottesville, VA: US Army Captured Materiel Exploitation Center.
- US Court of Claims. 1957. Aktiebolaget Bofors v. The United States. No. 206-53. 153 F.Supp. 397 (1957).
- US Department of Defense. 2009. *Department of Defense Standard Practice: Technical Data Packages*. MIL-STD-31000. Washington, DC: US Department of Defense.
- —. 2014. Defense Federal Acquisition Regulation Supplement (DFARS). In Federal Register. Department of Defense.
- US Navy Bureau of Ordnance. n.d. *Guns and Mounts*. Collected in US Naval Administrative Histories of World War II, US Navy Department Library. Washington, DC: US Navy Bureau of Ordnance.

Walter, John. 2006. Rifles of the World, 3rd edn. Iola, WI: Krause.

WeaponsMan. 2014. 'US Rifle Co-production in the Cold War.' 4 December.

- Weisser, Michael. 2013. *Guns for Good Guys, Guns for Bad Guys: Gun Violence in America*. Ware, MA: Teetee Press.
- Wilks, Remigiusz. 2015. 'Russia Selects New Assault Rifles.' IHS Jane's Defence Weekly. 29 January.
- Williams, Anthony G. 2014. 'British Self-loading Rifles 1944–1953.' Presentation to the Historical Breechloading Smallarms Association of Great Britain, London.
- Wilson, R.K. 1934/1990. *Textbook of Automatic Pistols*. Plantersville, TX: Samworth/Prescott, AZ: Wolfe.
- Woodall, Cam. 2009. 'The Great Model 8.' The Great Model 8 & 81. 31 January.